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For 2007, Seaspan reported record revenue, EBITDA
and cash available for distribution. During this time, we
continued to successfully execute our long-term growth
strategy, further strengthening our position for future
performance and enhancing our leadership role in the
global containership industry.
GERRY WANG
CEO, SEASPAN CORPORATION
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Corporate Profile

Seaspan is an outsource
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Corporate profile

provider of containerships

Seaspan is the largest publicly-traded independent

Seaspan’s customers are comprised of the world’s

owner of containerships that are all secured on long-

largest publicly traded liner companies with the strongest

design, maintenance, crewing

term, fixed rate charters with global liner companies.

credit quality, a core differentiator of the Company. Since

and daily technical operations

The Company’s high quality, young standardized fleet

completing the largest shipping IPO in the history of the

of 68 container vessels consists of 29 ships in operation

New York Stock Exchange in August of 2005, Seaspan

as of December 31, 2007 and 39 ships to be delivered

has grown its fleet capacity to more than 400,000 TEU,

and is responsible for the

of its containerships. Longterm fixed rate time charters

by the end of 2011. Seaspan’s operating fleet of 29

are entered into with the top

an increase of more than 243%, and utilized its strong

container vessels have an average age of approximately

and stable cash flows to provide shareholders with

global liner majors who are

five years and an average remaining charter duration of

an aggregate dividend of $4.19 per share.

responsible for fuel costs

approximately eight years. The 39 newbuildings, which
are scheduled to be delivered between 2008 and 2011,

and all cargo operating

have already been secured on charters with an average

and related expenses.

duration of approximately 11 years from delivery.

243% since IPO
Dividend increased by +11%; provided shareholders +58% total return since IPO

Seaspan has grown it’s fleet by over +

The shipping lines entrust
Seaspan to safely transport
valuable cargo. Typically, the

Current Contracted Fleet Growth

value of the cargo transported
by Seaspan on an average

401,323

voyage usually exceeds the

283,027

400,000 TEU

value of the ship itself, which
ranges from approximately
300,000 TEU

$45 million to $180 million.

CA

200,000 TEU

Based on our strong relationships with the shipyards,
we were the first to build the 8500 TEU vessel class.
Until then, there were no other containerships that
had ever been built that large. These ships now play
a prevalent role in global containerized trade.

GR

39

217,925

%
158,483

143,207
127,709
116,903

100,000 TEU

50,960
50,000 TEU

At IPO

08/12/2005

19

vessels
2005

23

vessels
2006

29

vessels
2007

35

vessels
2008

47

vessels
2009

57

vessels
2010

68

vessels
2011

Letter To The Shareholders / Board Of Directors
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Dear Shareholders,
Board of directors
Seaspan Corporation was taken public in August of 2005 with a distinct vision

Providing Shareholders With Stable And Growing Dividends

to become the world’s leading and well-capitalized containership company. In

Our considerable success in securing all of our vessels on favorable time charters

just over two and a half years, we are pleased to have made significant progress

led to an aggregate dividend of $1.81375 per share for the year, representing

advancing this strategic objective.

a 5.37% increase from 2006. Since going public, we have raised our quarterly

David Korbin
Director *

payout twice and paid a cumulative dividend of $4.19 per share. The 11% increase
Fastest Growing Independent Containership Company
2007 was a year of important accomplishments for our Company. We
reported record revenue and cash available for distribution of $199.2 million

that we have provided our IPO investors is even more notable considering that the
majority of vessels in our contracted fleet are scheduled to be delivered over the
next four years.

Peter Lorange
Director

and $114.4 million, respectively. In terms of fleet growth, we took delivery of
six newbuildings during the year, including the remaining four vessels from our

Positioned For Future Growth

IPO fleet. We also executed five efficient transactions since January 2007 to

With 39 fully contracted newbuildings to be delivered through 2011, including six in

simultaneously acquire and charter 27 newbuildings, solidifying the Company’s

2008, Seaspan is well positioned to build upon its record operating performance in

position as the fastest growing independent containership company. These deals

2007 and beyond. This strong built-in growth also bodes well for our Company to

expanded Seaspan’s modern fleet by nearly 200% to 68 vessels, representing

continue to provide shareholders with sizeable and growing dividends. Additionally,

a total asset value of approximately $6 billion. Importantly, the Company’s

our strong financial position, which includes more than $550 million in immediately

contracted EBITDA and revenue have also substantially increased to more than

available liquidity, enables Seaspan to continue to take advantage of the positive,

$550 million and $7.1 billion, respectively.

long-term industry fundamentals and capitalize on future growth opportunities.
Based on the successful execution to date of our long-term growth plan, we

IN RE C O G NITION OF
A DEDI C ATED TEA M
Seaspan’s significant success
in building a leading franchise
in the container industry is tribute
to our dedicated employees
and I would like to thank them
for their hard work. I would also

Partnering With High Credit Quality Container Liners
During the year, we continued to differentiate the Company by partnering with

Director *

Peter S. Shaerf
Director *

remain on track to expand our fleet to more than 100 vessels totaling
approximately $7 billion to $10 billion in assets by the end of 2010.

global liner companies with the highest credits. Our success in this area has
significantly increased our time charter coverage and strengthened our ability

Barry R. Pearl

Kyle Washington
Sincerely,

Director and Chairman

to distribute sizeable dividends. Specifically, we signed agreements with three
leading container liners for the 27 newbuildings that we agreed to acquire,
which have an average contract duration of approximately 11 years from
delivery. Currently, we have seven world-class customers, up from two
since our IPO, all of which are publicly traded.

like to thank our charterers,
shareholders, shipyards, suppliers

Enhancing Financial Flexibility In A Challenging Credit Market

and debt investors for their

I am proud of Seaspan’s ability to maintain an optimal capital structure with

continued support. We look

a low cost of capital. Since our IPO, we have successfully raised more than

forward to sharing our progress

$5 billion in both debt and equity financings. Last year alone, we raised more

with all of you in the future.

than $2 billion in debt and equity financings under favorable terms to support our
robust growth. Our ability to enhance our financial flexibility in a challenging credit

Gerry Wang

Milton K. Wong
Director *

Chief Executive Officer

Executive team

Gerry Wang
Director and Chief Executive Officer

market is testimony to our sound and sustainable business model. This important
accomplishment also highlights the ongoing support that we continue to receive
from global lending institutions and the capital markets.

Sai W. Chu
Chief Financial Officer
* Independent Directors

Fastest Growing Independent Containership Company

The containership industry
has grown approximately 10%

Fastest Growing Independent
Containership Company

Focused on
Growing Dividends

on an annual basis over the

Since going public in August 2005, Seaspan has expanded its fleet capacity to

Since its IPO in August 2005

past 10 years. Opportunities

more than 400,000 TEU, an increase of over 243%. This impressive growth has

Seaspan has distributed aggregate

for Seaspan to further capitalize

solidified its position as the fastest growing independent containership company

dividends of $4.19 per share, with

in the world.

two increases totaling 11%. This

on this attractive market

has been achieved during a time

will be enhanced through

in which the company has not

In 2007, the Company successfully expanded its contracted fleet to 68

greater outsourcing by

yet received the majority of its

containerships through five efficient transactions for a total of 27 newbuildings.

liner companies, industry

newbuildings. With 39 vessels to

With these new containerships, which are scheduled to be delivered over the

consolidation and energy

next four years, the Company has further increased its fixed revenue stream to

efficiency via slow steaming.

more than $7.1 billion and annual EBITDA to more than $550 million. The Company

date that are scheduled to be
delivered through 2011, including
six in 2008, Seaspan is well

has also enhanced its leadership position in the industry and created a platform

positioned to continue to provide

for future growth. With current contracted assets exceeding $6 billion, Seaspan
W orld C ontainer
T rade and A nnual G rowt h
140

assets will enable the company to maximize its capability to take advantage of

129

100

and growing dividends.

$7 billion to $10 billion in assets by the end of 2010. Reaching critical mass in
market conditions, especially during a downturn period.

106

120

its shareholders with sizeable

intends to expand its fleet to more than 100 vessels totalling approximately

(1)
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Growth
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Source: Clarkson’s Research, January 2008

High bunker fuel prices have led to a new initiative –
slow steaming. By operating the vessels at a lower
speed, there is an exponential reduction in fuel
consumption. To our customers, the fuel savings
exceed the ship outsourcing cost. This makes
it cost-effective to add in another ship, enabling
them to maintain their scheduled services.
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30

$550

%
$493

$326

increase
* +5% Dividend
declared in Q4 2006

$300

$217

increase
** +6% Dividend
declared in Q4 2007

$170

$200

$146
$84

$100
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*
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**
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Seaspan defines EBITDA as
Earnings before Interest, Taxes,
Depreciation, Amortization
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Our Strategy

Our vision is to become the world’s leading independent
containership owner, by building a substantial base of
assets to enhance value through a portfolio over 100
vessels worth $7 to $10 billion by 2010.
GERRY WANG
CEO, SEASPAN CORPORATION

M a rk e t Ov e rv i e w

ou r S tr ategy

Seaspan currently holds an approximate 3% market share n a fragmented $250 billion containership
market. Using its portfolio approach, Seaspan will continue to take advantage of this expansive
market opportunity to grow its revenue and distributable cash flow streams over the long term.
Growth will be achieved through increased liner outsourcing, consolidation of the fragmented
market and the growth in the overall market.

Best-in-Cl ass Oper ations

L iner O utsourcing (1)

Fleet Expansion

M arket S h are

We will maintain our focus on further expanding our fleet through efficient transactions that call for securing long-term
charters for vessels at the same time they are acquired. In executing our high-return, low-risk growth strategy, we will
continue to implement our disciplined approach by only pursuing accretive acquisitions that increase our distributable
cash flow to shareholders.

70%

50%

30%
30%

15%

42%

45%

50%

Seaspan

52%

We strive to be the partner of choice for high quality liner majors. Through our direct relationships and leading
reputation for technical excellence we have successfully increased the number of charterers we work with to seven
from two at the time of our IPO. We will continue to diversify our customer base by selectively adding liner majors
with strong credit quality.

3%

23%
$250 Billion

10%

49%
1994

1997

1999

2001

2003

2005

2007

Portfolio Approach to
Asset Management

48%

Other Charter
Owners

Container
Liners

V essel S i z es
Diversified vessel sizes (# of vessels)

By actively managing our asset portfolio, we plan to
optimize our cash flows and minimize risk. As part of
this strategy, we will maintain balance across charterers,
vessel sizes, charter lengths, and charter terms.

7%

4520 TEU

12%

13100 TEU

6%

4800 TEU

6%

5100 TEU

2 0 07E T rade route growt h (1)

tr a de g row th

17%

Asia-Europe

The containership industry has strong
underlying fundamentals and has continued
to grow despite a recent slowdown in the
US economy. Some vessels that were on
the Asia-North America route have been
redeployed to the Asia-Europe route, to
capture this demand growth.

12.6%

Intra-Regional

10.3%

Other East-West

7.3%

North-South

6.9%

Transpacific

(Asia-North America)

4.9%

Transatlantic
5%

(1)

Source: Clarkson’s Research, January 2008

Competitive Cost of Capital

10%

15%

20%

During 2007 we raised $300 million in equity and
$1.8 billion in debt. Based on our success, we have
secured favorable interest rates until the year 2020
and fully funded the debt portion for our entire fleet
of 68 vessels. Going forward we will continue to access
the equity and debt markets under terms that support
our strong growth.

3%

15%

3500 TEU

2500 TEU

3%

9600 TEU

15%

8500 TEU

33%

4250 TEU
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Active Asset Manager

Seaspan’s construction

Ac t i v e A s s e t M a n a g e r

supervision site teams work

Seaspan is focused on developing a critical mass of

In further demonstrating its expertise in contract

high-quality, capital intensive assets and applying the

management, Seaspan has made important strides

residing in Korea and China

concepts of portfolio theory in managing its assets. By

in diversifying its customer base to seven global liner

for years to oversee projects

actively diversifying the sizes of containerships, charter

companies, up from two since its IPO. It is through

lengths and customers, Seaspan is dedicated to delivering

direct relationships that the charter agreements are

strong and stable returns for shareholders.

negotiated, there are no brokers involved and therefore

closely with the shipbuilders,

and ensure their success.

no commissions to be paid. This direct relationship allows

Seaspan strives to maintain

The Company’s large contracted fleet of 68 containerships,

technical excellence that

which range in size between 2500 TEU and 13100 TEU,

exceeds the highest industry

provides Seaspan with significant economies of scale

standards. In achieving this

through a standard design process and greater flexibility in
meeting the needs of its customers. With a homogeneous

critical goal, Seaspan has
experienced naval architects
as well as paint and electrical

Seaspan to work at a strategic level with its customers, not
just as an asset provider.

fleet the Company is able to achieve greater efficiencies

Chartered Vessels

through purchasing power discounts, maintenance and

Expanded charter base by +

the ability to redeploy its crew throughout the fleet.

196% (# of vessels chartered since IPO)

experts on the team of
engineers and specialists

The Company’s portfolio approach is also evident in

located worldwide. These

Seaspan’s high-return, low-risk strategy of acquiring

10%
K-Line

vessels and simultaneously securing them on long-term

factors have resulted in a

6%

MAERSK

fixed rate charters. Management has taken the proactive

history of early delivery of their

approach of locking away all of its vessels on contracts

ships, averaging eight weeks.

with an average duration of approximately eight years for

6%
MOL

13%

Hapag-Lloyd

6%

the current operating fleet and 11 years for newbuilds.

CSAV

Renewals are staggered over a period of 12 years
beginning in 2013, assuming the options are exercised.
This effectively minimizes any market exposure and

Through intensive training programs for our crews,
we are able to provide our valuable customers with
the best qualified personnel to transport their goods
around the globe. Our success in this area reflects
our ongoing commitment to safe and reliable service
that exceeds the highest industry standards.

creates upside potential. As an example under the charter

27%

COSCO

agreements the rates for the IPO fleet are 12 – 25% below
the current market rates.

32%
CSCL

Critical Link Along The Ocean Highway

Seaspan’s vessel sizes range

C r i t i c a l L i n k A l o n g t h e Oc e a n H i g h w a y

by TEU. A TEU is a “twenty-

Seaspan serves as a critical link in the global infrastructure for the

foot equivalent unit,” the

worldwide delivery of consumer and industrial goods. Whether it is

standard measurement for

household furniture, appliances, clothing, computers, automotive parts, or

the length of a container box.

more, Seaspan connects areas of manufacturing with areas of consumption,

14

w h at ’ s i n a

c o n ta i n e r ?
Sample of Goods Trans-shipped
from Asia to North America

which is essential for supporting long-term global economic growth.

These containers are loaded
off of the ships and onto the

30%

Seaspan is at the forefront of containerization, the industry has seen

back of trucks or onto rail

approximately 10% growth per year since 1998. Complementing the

chassis for land transport.

18%

logistics services offered by world-class liner companies, Seaspan utilizes
its modern fleet and experienced crews to transport goods across the
world’s oceans with the highest level of safety, reliability and efficiency.

Seaspan’s largest vessels will

14%

hold over 13000 standard TEU
With a large contracted fleet of 68 containerships totalling more than

container boxes, which if laid

400,000 TEU, Seaspan is in a strong position to take advantage of the

out end-to-end would stretch

positive long-term industry fundamentals. In accomplishing this objective,

out nearly 50 miles long.

5%

Seaspan expects to maintain its central role in the global supply chain

5%
8%
5%
5%
5%

5%

for the transportation of important consumer and industrial goods.

Seaspan’s largest ships

Furniture and Household Goods

span 366m and are longer

Clothing and Related Items

than a Nimitz class aircraft
carrier which spans 333m.

Flooring Materials, Blinds and Other Related Plastics

366m

333m

General Electrical Appliances

Automobile Parts

Television, Video and Visions Bound Products
Nimitz Class Air Craft Carrier CVN 68

Seaspan 13100 TEU

Our vessels on charter to the liner majors are
deployed around the world. The routes are
determined by the shipping liners with the
majority of routes including Asia to Europe
and Asia to North America.

Computers and Semi-conductor Products

Forestry and Other Related Products

Building Materials and Other Related Items

Toys

Leading Industry Innovator

Seaspan’s proactive approach

Leading Industry Innovator

to reducing emissions is

Seaspan’s reputation as a leading innovator in the container industry is

evident through its large

16

Our larger vessels extend 366m,
about 400 yards, the length of

directly related to management’s commitment to promoting world-class

a par 4 on a golf course, or the

container vessels that exceed

customer service and social responsibility. Highlighting the Company’s

equivalent of four football fields

10000 TEU. These vessels

success in this area are Seaspan’s state-of-the-art ship designs and

combined together. If this vessel

environmental stewardship.

are equipped with electronic
engines that generate lower

As an industry pioneer, Seaspan is responsible for standardizing numerous

emissions and higher

were put upright, it would be taller
than the Eiffel Tower.

vessel classes based on its strong customer relationships and partnerships

efficiencies. The electronic

with key shipyards. The Company’s award-winning designs from prestigious

engines are also used in

organizations, including the Royal Institute of Naval Architects, have led to

conjunction with MAN Diesel’s

greater cargo carrying capabilities and established important precedents

366m
324m

followed by other container companies. These include the ‘first-in-class’

Alpha cylinder lubrication

of the now very popular 4250 TEU Panamax vessel, truly the workhorse of

system that optimizes

the Panamax surge and the first 8000 TEU post-Panamax vessel. Seaspan

lube-oil consumption

was also among the first to order post-Panamax 9000 TEU vessels.

and assists in lowering
particulate emissions.

During a time when Seaspan has paved the way for enhancing operational
efficiencies, the Company has taken proactive measures to conserve energy
and reduce carbon emissions. By implementing an advanced lubricating

Based on Seaspan’s success

system called Alpha Lubricator, the Company remains at the cutting edge of

in exceeding regulatory

environmental friendly techniques that provide significant benefits for the

requirements for emission

Company, its customers and future generations and resulted in a 50%

reductions, the Company

reduction of hydro-carbon lubricant consumption.

received the MAN Diesel
Green Stamp of Approval,
a prestigious environmental
award in recognition of
eco-friendly operations,
in April 2008.

MAN Diesel, Germany

Seaspan 13100 TEU

The environmental concerns of today pose a real
challenge for future generations. We have proactively
addressed these issues through the adoption of
advanced technologies that significantly reduce
carbon emissions. We will continue our social
awareness and are dedicated to a brighter tomorrow.

Eiffel Tower
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FINANCIALS
Selected Financial Data
Operating and Financial Review and Prospects
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management’s Statement Of Responsibilities
Report Of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Report Of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements Of Earnings
Consolidated Statements Of Shareholders’ Equity
Consolidated Statements Of Cash Flows
Notes To Financial Statements
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S e a s pa n C o r p o r at i o n

SELE C TED FINAN C IAL DATA

Years ended

August 12 to

December 31,
2007

December 31,

January 1 to

2006

2005

August 11,

as adjusted

as adjusted

(2)

(2)

2005

(1)

Years ended

Years ended

December 31,

December 31,

2004

(1)

2003

(1)

Statements of operations data
(period ended, in thousands of dollars):
$ 118,489

$  34,803

$  40,157

$ 35,933

$ 35,011

46,174

27,869

7,832

7,733

7,157

6,577

Vessels

50,162

26,878

7,186

9,904

8,808

8,587

Fair value of financial instruments, asset(4)

6,006

4,911

1,694

218

207

208

96,893

58,831

18,091

22,302

19,761

19,639

Total assets
Current portion of long-term debt

Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets

 Ship operating
Depreciation
(3)

Operating earnings
Other expenses (income):

34,062

17,594

1,699

14,563

11,804

12,193

72,365

908

—

(7,308)

(1,416)

(5,808)

(4,074)

(1,542)

(124)

—

—

—

635

—

—

—

3,135

—

3,057

2,803

1,041

—

—

—

1,256

1,980

726

450

222

183

—

—

—

(17)

(53)

(36)

Net earnings (loss)

$ (10,408)

$ 37,088

$  14,749

$  14,614

$ 6,069

$ 13,107

Common shares outstanding (at period end):

57,541,933

47,522,350

35,991,600

 Interest expense
(4)

 Interest income
 Write-off on debt refinancing
Undrawn credit facility fee
 Amortization of deferred charges
 Other

Deferred charges
Current liabilities (excluding current portion of long-term debt)

Due to related party
Fair value of financial instruments, liability(4)
Owner’s equity (deficiency)
Share capital

2006

2005

August 11,

2007

as adjusted

as adjusted

$ 123,134

$ 92,227

$  15,718

(2)

(2)

2005(1)

December 31,
2004(1)

2003(1)

Total shareholders’ equity

$

(0.20)

$

0.98

$     0.41

N/A

N/A

N/A

Cash dividends paid per share

$

1.785

$

1.70

$     0.23

N/A

N/A

N/A

Statements of cash flows data
(period ended, in thousands of dollars):
Cash flows provided by (used in):
$ 113,168

$ 71,363

$  24,115

$  19,289

$ 18,540

$ 16,860

 Investing activities

(1,104,704)

(605,652)

(826,253)

(20,939)

(8,692)

(236,369)

Financing activities

1,022,443

610,798

817,856

793

(8,279)

212,320

$    3,209

$ 4,066

$ 2,497

130,318

96,655

18,070

22,316

13,258

9,100

2,424,253

1,198,782

621,163

466,112

454,862

452,141

—

10,711

4,799

—

—

—

17,240

7,879

6,526

8,548

8,201

4,828

2,576,901

1,317,216

650,978

496,976

476,321

466,069

15,716

11,167

4,226

5,357

5,481

4,135

—

—

—

26,203

19,773

12,848

1,339,438

563,203

122,893

405,495

376,999

347,946

—

—

—

43,393

64,822

96,883

135,617

15,831

—

11,552

18,860

19,476

—

—

—

4,976

(9,638)

(15,707)

575

475

360

—

—

—

862,326

725,015

523,859

—

—

—

Other data:
Number of vessels in operation at period end
Fleet utilization(6)

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share

(5)

Long-term debt(5)

TEU capacity at period end

Per share data (in dollars):

 Operating activities

January 1 to

(at period end, in thousands of dollars):
$ 199,235

Operating expenses:

Change in fair value of financial instruments

December 31,

Selected balance sheet data

Revenue

General and administrative

Years ended

August 12 to

29

23

13

10

6

5

143,207

108,473

63,719

50,960

29,733

21,265

99.0%

99.0%

100.0%

99.8%

100.0%

100.0%

(1) Represents selected financial data for the predecessor for the period prior to our initial public offering.
(2) Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FSP AUG AIR-1, Accounting for Planned Major Maintenance Activities, which provides guidance on the accounting for planned major maintenance
activities. Previously, the Company accounted for dry-dock activities using the accrue-in-advance method. The Company has adopted the deferral method of accounting for dry-dock activities
whereby actual costs incurred are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the period until the next scheduled dry-dock activity. The Company has applied FSP AUG AIR-1 retrospectively, and, as a result, the results for the 142-day period ended December 31, 2005 and the year ended December 31, 2006 have been adjusted.
(3) The predecessor combined financial statements include the general and administrative expenses incurred by the predecessor related to its operations. Subsequent to the completion of the initial
public offering and the acquisition of the initial ten containerships, we have incurred additional administrative expenses, including legal, accounting, treasury, premises, securities regulatory compliance and other costs normally incurred by a listed public entity. Accordingly, general and administrative expenses incurred by and allocated to the predecessor do not purport to be indicative of our
current expenses.
(4) The predecessor entered into interest rate swap agreements to reduce their exposure to market risks from changing interest rates. These derivative instruments have been recognized on the predecessor combined balance sheet at their fair value. As the predecessor did not designate the interest rate swap agreements as hedging instruments in accordance with the requirements in accounting literature, changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps have been recognized in earnings. These changes occur due to changes in market interest rates for debt with substantially similar
credit risk and payment terms. These interest rate swaps, together with the underlying debt, were settled by the predecessor and not assumed by us on completion of the initial public offering and
the acquisition of the initial fleet. For the year ended December 31, 2007, we entered into interest rate swap agreements to reduce our exposure to market risks from changing interest rates. The
swap agreements fix LIBOR at 4.6325% to 5.8700% based on expected drawdowns and outstanding debt until at least February 2014. Interest rate swap agreements are recorded on the balance
sheet at their respective fair values. For the interest rate swap agreements that have been designated as hedging instruments in accordance with the requirements in the accounting literature, the
changes in the fair value of these interest rate swap agreements are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income. The fair value will change as market interest rates change. Interest
expense is adjusted to include amounts payable or receivable under the interest rate swaps. The ineffective portion of the interest rate swaps are recognized immediately in net income. Other interest rate swap agreements and derivative instruments that are not designated as hedging instruments are marked to market and are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. The changes in the
fair value of these instruments are recorded in earnings.
(5) All predecessor long-term debt was settled on the completion of the initial public offering and was not assumed by us.
(6) We calculate fleet utilization by dividing the number of our operating days during a period by the number of our ownership days during the period. We use fleet utilization to measure our efficiency
in operating our vessels and the amount of days that our vessels are off-hire. We define operating days as the number of our available days in a period less the aggregate number of days that our
vessels are off-hire due to any reason, including unforeseen circumstances. We use operating days to measure the aggregate number of days in a period during which our vessels actually generate
revenues. We define ownership days as the aggregate number of days in a period during which each vessel in our fleet has been owned by us. Ownership days are an indicator of the size of our
fleet over a period and affects the amount of vessel operating expenses that we incur.
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world by TEU capacity as of December 28, 2007. Our four 4800 TEU vessels

method over their estimated useful lives. We review the estimate of our vessels’

a hedge to be highly effective if the change in fair value of the derivative

are chartered to APM, the world’s largest container shipping company based

useful lives on an ongoing basis to ensure they reflect current technology,

hedging instrument is within 80% to 125% of the opposite change in the fair

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and

on TEU capacity as of December 28, 2007. Two containerships are currently

service potential, and vessel structure. For accounting purposes, we estimate

value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk. For interest rate

Results of Operations

chartered to COSCON, the world’s seventh largest container shipping company

the useful life of the vessels will be 30 years from the date of initial comple-

swap agreements that are formally designated as cash flow hedges, the

based on TEU capacity as of December 28, 2007. The 39 containerships that

tion. Should certain factors or circumstances cause us to revise our estimate

changes in the fair value of these interest rate swaps are recorded in other

we have contracted to purchase or lease, as the case may be, will similarly

of vessel service lives in the future, depreciation expense could be materially

comprehensive income and are reclassified to earnings when the hedged

be chartered on a long-term basis.

lower or higher. Such factors include, but are not limited to, the extent of

transaction is reflected in earnings. Ineffective portions of the hedges are

cash flows generated from future charter arrangements, changes in interna-

recognized in earnings as they occur. Actual cash receipts and/or payments

tional shipping requirements, and other factors, many of which are outside

and related accruals on derivatives related to hedges are recorded as adjust-

of our control.

ments to the interest income or interest expense associated with the hedged

Results of Operations

The following management’s discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our historical financial statements and their notes included elsewhere in this report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that
reflect our current views with respect to future events and financial performance.
Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-

Critical Accounting Estimates

looking statements as a result of certain factors, such as those set forth in the

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with account-

section entitled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report. The con-

ing principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”), and we make

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

solidated financial statement balances for the year ended December 31, 2007

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabili-

We evaluate the net carrying value of our vessels for possible impairment

included in this Annual Report as well as in management’s discussion and

ties, revenue and expenses, and the related disclosures of contingent obliga-

when events or conditions exist that cause us to question whether the carry-

analysis below include the predecessor’s 223-day operating period ended

tions. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments. We

ing value of the vessels will be recovered from future undiscounted net cash

August 11, 2005 and 142 days of our operations from August 12, 2005, the

base our estimates on historical experience and anticipated results and

flows. Considerations in making such an impairment evaluation would include

date of completion of our initial public offering.

trends and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under

comparison of current carrying value to anticipated future operating cash

While the hedged level of interest anticipates borrowings in excess of current

the circumstances. By their nature, estimates are subject to an inherent

flows, expectations with respect to future operations, and other relevant

levels, we believe such future borrowings and interest payments are probable

degree of uncertainty. Actual results may differ from our estimates.

factors. To the extent that the carrying value of the vessels exceeds the

based on the financing requirements for ships currently under contract. Our

undiscounted estimated future cash flows, the vessels would be written

ongoing ability to employ hedge accounting is dependent on our ability to

down to their fair value.

demonstrate that the hedges continue to be highly effective in offsetting the

Overview
We are Seaspan Corporation, a Marshall Islands corporation that was incorporated on May 3, 2005. Our business is to own containerships, charter

Senior management has discussed with our audit committee the development,

them pursuant to long-term, fixed-rate charters and seek additional accretive

selection, and disclosure of accounting estimates used in the preparation of

vessel acquisitions. We deploy all our vessels on long-term, fixed-rate time

our consolidated financial statements.

charters to take advantage of the stable cash flow and high utilization rates
that are typically associated with long-term time charters. Our primary objective is to continue to grow our business through accretive acquisitions in
order to increase our dividend per share.

Revenue Recognition
Charter revenue is generated from long-term time charters for each vessel
and commences as soon as the vessel is delivered. Time charter revenues
are recorded on a straight-line basis over the initial term of the charter

Intangible Assets
For certain vessels where the Company provides lubricants for the operation
of such vessels, the Company has a contractual right to have the vessel
returned with the same level and complement of lubricants. This contractual
right is recorded as an intangible asset at the historical fair value of the lubri-

item. During the life of the hedge, we formally assess whether each derivative
designated as a hedging instrument continues to be highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair value or cash flows of hedged items. If it is determined
that a hedge has ceased to be highly effective, we will discontinue hedge
accounting prospectively.

interest rate variability associated with the hedged interest payments. The
effectiveness of these hedges is dependent on a variety of factors, including
the amount of variable rate debt, the timing of borrowings (which is based on
vessel construction payments), the interest reset terms, and the timing and
frequency of interest payments.

cants at the time of delivery. Intangible assets are tested for impairment

If the Company de-designates a hedging relationship and discontinues hedge

annually or more frequently due to events or changes in circumstances that

accounting, the Company evaluates the future settlements to determine

indicate the asset might be impaired. An impairment loss is recognized when

whether there are any hedged interest rate payments that are improbable to

the carrying amount of the intangible asset exceeds its fair value.

occur. When such amounts are identified as being improbable, the balance

We currently own and operate a fleet of 29 containerships and have entered

arrangement. The charters provide for a per vessel fixed daily charter hire

into contracts for the purchase or lease, as the case may be, of an additional

rate. We do not enter into spot voyage arrangements with respect to any of

39 containerships. As of December 31, 2007, the average age of the 29

our vessels. Although our charter revenues are fixed, and accordingly little

vessels currently in our fleet was 4.7 years. Please read “Information on

judgment is required to be applied to the amount of revenue recognition,

the Company—D. Property, Plants and Equipment—Our Fleet” for more

there is no certainty as to the daily charter rates or other terms that will be

Derivative Instruments

information.

available upon the expiration of our existing charter party agreements.

Our hedging policies permit the use of various derivative financial instruments
to manage interest rate risk. Interest rate swap and swaption agreements

pertaining to these amounts that is included in accumulated other comprehensive income is reversed through earnings immediately. When amounts
are not identified as improbable, any balances recorded in accumulated other

Our customer selection process is targeted at well-established container liner

Vessel Lives

companies that charter-in vessels on a long-term basis as part of their fleet

Our vessels represent our most significant assets. The initial fleet of 10 vessels

expansion strategy. Currently, 14 containerships in our fleet are under time

is carried at the historical carrying value of the predecessor, which includes

charters with CSCL Asia. CSCL Asia, a British Virgin Islands company, is a

capitalized interest during construction and other construction, design, super-

subsidiary of CSCL. CSCL, the sixth largest container shipping company in

vision and predelivery costs, less accumulated depreciation. The difference

the world based on TEU capacity as of December 28, 2007, is listed on the

between the purchase price of the initial fleet and the historical carrying value

Hong Kong Stock Exchange. CSCL Asia primarily operates in the China trade

was charged against shareholders’ equity at the time of the acquisition. All

routes, which in the past few years have experienced significant growth. Nine

additional vessels purchased subsequent to our initial public offering are

containerships in our fleet are under time charters with HL USA, which is an

recorded at their cost to us, reflecting the fair value of the consideration we

To qualify for hedge accounting, derivatives must be highly effective at reduc-

currency transactions or use financial instruments for trading or other specu-

affiliate of Hapag Lloyd, the fifth largest container shipping company in the

pay upon their acquisition. We depreciate our vessels using the straight-line

ing the risk associated with the exposure being hedged and must be formally

lative purposes.

have been entered into to reduce our exposure to market risks from changing
interest rates. Derivatives and hedging activities are accounted for in accord

comprehensive income at the de-designation are recognized in earnings
when the actual settlements under the interest rate swap occur.

ance with FASB Statement No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments

Other interest rate swap agreements and the swaption agreement that are

and Certain Hedging Activities, as amended, which requires that all derivative

not designated as hedging instruments are marked to market and are recorded

instruments be recorded on the balance sheet at their respective fair values.

on the balance sheet at fair value. The changes in the fair value of these

We recognize the interest rate swap and swaption agreements on the balance

instruments are recorded in earnings.

sheet at their fair value.

designated as a hedge at the inception of the hedging relationship. We consider

We do not hedge foreign currency translation of assets or liabilities or foreign
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Historically, the predecessor did not designate their interest rate swap agree-

Classification society. An independent organization that certifies that a ship

ments as hedging instruments in accordance with the requirements in

has been built and maintained according to the organization’s rules for that

accounting literature, and recognized changes in the fair value of the interest

type of ship and complies with the applicable rules and regulations of the

rate swaps in earnings.

country of the ship’s registry and the international conventions of which that

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)

country is a member. A ship that receives its certification is referred to as

Dry-docking. The removal of a ship from the water for inspection and repair

fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally

of those parts of a ship that are below the water line. During dry-dockings,

accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value

which are required to be carried out periodically, certain mandatory classifi-

measurements. SFAS 157 does not require any new fair value measurements,

cation society inspections are carried out and relevant certifications are issued.

but provides guidance on how to measure fair value by providing a fair value

Dry-dockings for containerships are generally required once every five years,

hierarchy used to classify the source of the information. SFAS 157 is effective

one of which must be a Special Survey.

for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. In February 2008, the
tain non-financial assets and liabilities. Seaspan intends to defer the adoption
of SFAS 157 with respect to certain non-financial assets and liabilities as
permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of the
partial adoption of SFAS 157 on its consolidated financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.
In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities—including an Amendment of FASB
Statement No. 115 (“SFAS 159”), which allows an entity to choose to mea-

cash flows.
Important Financial and Operational Terms and Concepts
We use a variety of financial and operational terms and concepts when analyz-

(as adjusted)(1)
Statement of operations data (in thousands of dollars):
Revenue
Operating expenses:
 Ship operating
Depreciation
General and administrative

27,869
26,878
4,911

96,893

58,831

34,062
(4,074)
3,057
1,256
635
72,365

17,594
(1,542)
2,803
1,980
—
908

Net earnings (loss)

$   (10,408)

$   37,088

Common shares outstanding at year end:
Per share data (in dollars):
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share
Cash dividends paid per share
Statement of cash flows data (in thousands of dollars):
Cash flows provided by (used in):
 Operating activities
 Investing activities
Financing activities

57,541,933

47,522,350

$     (0.20)
$     1.785

$      0.98
$      1.70

$   113,168
(1,104,704)
1,022,443

$   71,363
(605,652)
610,798

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

$    30,907

$   76,509

and paying ship operating expenses while the charterer is responsible for

Selected balance sheet data (in thousands of dollars):
Cash and cash equivalents
Vessels
Fair value of financial instruments
Other assets

$   123,134
2,424,253
—
29,514

$   92,227
1,198,782
10,711
15,496

paying the voyage expenses and additional voyage insurance. The shipowner

Total assets

$ 2,576,901

$1,317,216

is paid charterhire, which accrues on a daily basis.

15,716
135,617
1,339,438
223,804
862,326

11,167
15,831
563,203
—
727,015

$ 2,576,901

$1,317,216

Ship operating expenses. The costs of operating a ship, primarily consisting
of crew wages and associated costs, insurance premiums, management fee,
lubricants and spare parts, and repair and maintenance costs. Ship operating
expenses exclude fuel cost, port expenses, agents’ fees, canal dues and
extra war risk insurance, as well as commissions, which are included in
“voyage expenses.”
Special survey. The inspection of a ship by a classification society surveyor
that takes place every five years, as part of the recertification of the ship by a
classification society.

voyages.

2008. We are currently evaluating the potential impact of the adoption of

TEU. Twenty-foot equivalent unit, the international standard measure for
containers and containership capacity.
Time charter. A charter under which the shipowner hires out a ship for a
specified period of time. The shipowner is responsible for providing the crew

Operating earnings
Other expenses (income):
 Interest expense
 Interest income
Undrawn credit facility fee
 Amortization of deferred charges
 Write-off on debt refinancing
Change in fair value of financial instruments

specific voyage between the loading port and the discharging port. The ship-

Other liabilities
Fair value of financial instruments
Long-term debt
Other long-term liability
Shareholders’ equity

Charter. The hire of a ship for a specified period of time or a particular voyage

owner is responsible for paying both ship operating expenses and voyage

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

to carry a cargo from a loading port to a discharging port. The contract for a

expenses. Typically, the charterer is responsible for any delay at the loading

charter is commonly called a charterparty.

or discharging ports. The shipowner is paid freight on the basis of the cargo

ing our performance. These include the following:
Bunkers. Heavy fuel and diesel oil used to power a ship’s engines.

Charterer. The party that hires a ship for a period of time or for a voyage.
Charterhire. A sum of money paid to the shipowner by a charterer for the use
of a ship. Charterhire paid under a voyage charter is also known as “freight.”

Year ended
December 31,
2006

46,174
50,162
6,006

Spot market. The market for immediate chartering of a ship, usually for single

SFAS 159 on our consolidated financial position, results of operations and

Year ended
December 31,
2007

$  118,489

sure certain financial instruments and liabilities at fair value. Subsequent
fair value will be recognized in earnings. SFAS 159 also establishes additional

The following table presents our operating results for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007.

$   199,235

measurements for the financial instruments and liabilities an entity elects to
disclosure requirements. SFAS 159 is effective for us beginning January 1,

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations is for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP and, except where otherwise specifically indicated, all amounts are expressed in U.S. dollars.

being “in-class.”

issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (SFAS 157), which defines

FASB delayed for one year the effective date of adoption with respect to cer-

Year Ended December 31, 2007 Compared with Year Ended December 31, 2006

Voyage charter. A charter under which a shipowner hires out a ship for a

movement between ports.
Voyage expenses. Expenses incurred due to a ship’s traveling from a loading
port to a discharging port, such as fuel (bunkers) cost, port expenses, agents’
fees, canal dues, extra war risk insurance and commissions.

Other data:
Number of vessels in operation at period end
Average age of fleet in years at period end
TEU capacity at period end
Average remaining initial term on outstanding charters
Fleet utilization

29
4.7
143,207
7.7
99.0%

23
4.8
108,473
8.1
99.0%

(1) Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FSP AUG AIR-1, Accounting for Planned Major Maintenance Activities, which provides guidance on the accounting for planned major maintenance
activities. Previously, the Company accounted for dry-dock activities using the accrue-in-advance method. The Company has adopted the deferral method of accounting for dry-dock activities whereby
actual costs incurred are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the period until the next scheduled dry-dock activity. The Company has applied FSP AUG AIR-1 retrospectively, and, as
a result, the results for the 142-day period ended December 31, 2005 and the year ended December 31, 2006 have been adjusted.
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We began the year with 23 vessels in operation and took delivery of six

General and Administrative Expenses

Interest Income

Change in Fair Value of Financial Instruments

newbuilding vessels during 2007 for a total of 29 vessels in operation at

General and administrative expenses increased by 22.3%, or $1.1 million, to

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we earned interest income of

The change in fair value of financial instruments is $72.4 million loss for the

December 31, 2007. Operating days are the primary driver of revenue while

$6.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, from $4.9 million for the

$4.1 million compared with $1.5 million for the year ended December 31,

year ended December 31, 2007 compared to $0.9 million loss for the year

year ended December 31, 2006. This increase is primarily due to increased

2006 through investing excess cash balances in highly liquid securities with

ended December 31, 2006. We experienced a significant decline in the fair

costs to support growth initiatives through strategic planning and investor

terms to maturity of three months or less.

value of our undesignated interest rate swaps due to significant decreases in

ownership days are the driver for ship operating costs.
Year ended
December 31,

relation activities. The increase is also due to $0.3 million increase in share-

Increase

2007

2006

Days

%

Operating days

9,731

6,057

3,674

60.7%

Ownership days

9,829

6,119

3,710

60.6%

Revenue
Revenue increased by 68.1%, or $80.7 million, to $199.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2007, compared with $118.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006, which was primarily due to the six vessels delivered
during 2007 and a full year of operations in 2007 for the ten vessels delivered
in 2006. The delivery of these six vessels contributed 1,433 of the 9,731
operating days, which increased revenue by $33.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007. We incurred 98 days of off-hire for the year, which
impacted revenue by $2.1 million. Vessel utilization was 99.0% for the year
ended December 31, 2007, consistent with the year ended December 31, 2006.
Ship Operating Expenses
Ship operating costs increased by 65.7%, or $18.3 million, to $46.2 million

based compensation expense that reflected an increase in the share price on
a year over year basis
Interest Expense
Interest expense increased by 93.6%, or $16.5 million, to $34.1 million for
the year ended December 31, 2007, from $17.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006. The increase was due to the additional funds drawn
under the operating credit facility to fund the six new operating vessels delivered during 2007 and the full year of operation for the ten vessels delivered
in 2006. We have entered into interest rate swap agreements to reduce our
exposure to market rate risks from changing interest rates on our LIBOR
based payments on our facilities. The interest expense received or paid on
these interest rate swaps are netted with or added to interest expense on our
credit facilities.

Amortization of Deferred Charges
Amortization of deferred charges decreased 36.6%, or $0.7 million, to $1.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2007, from $2.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2006.

short-term LIBOR rates. The change in fair value of financial instruments is
included in other expenses, which is not part of operating earnings and has
no cash impact. The financial instruments consist entirely of fixed interest
rate swaps and swaptions that we enter into to lock in the return on our
acquisitions and provide predictable long-term cash earnings and distributions

Amortization of deferred charges relating to our financing fees decreased by

to our shareholders. Certain of our interest rate swaps are accounted for as

49.0%, or $1.0 million, to $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2007,

hedging instruments in accordance with the requirements in accounting liter-

from $2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. The decrease was

ature. As a result, the effective changes in the fair value of our interest rate

due to the amortization of deferred financing fees on Tranche B of the original

swap agreements that qualify for hedge accounting are excluded from earnings

$1.3 billion credit facility which expired on February 28, 2007. Financing fees

until settled. The change in fair value of financial instruments represents the

are deferred and amortized over the terms of the individual credit facilities

ineffective portion of our interest rate swap agreements that are accounted

using the interest yield basis. The amortization of the deferred financing fees

for as hedging instruments and the change in fair value of the financial

on the $1.3 Billion Credit Agreement and Tranche A of the $365.0 million

instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting.

revolving credit facility are expensed as incurred while the amortization of the
deferred financing fees on Tranche B of the $365.0 million revolving credit

Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared with

The interest on our $365.0 million revolving credit facility, $218.4 million

facility, the $218.4 million term loan facility and the $920.0 million credit

Year Ended December 31, 2005

credit facility and $920.0 million credit facility were capitalized to vessels

facility are being capitalized to the vessels under construction.

under construction.

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations

As a result of the adoption of FSP AUG AIR-1, we have adopted the deferral

is for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005. The year ended

December 31, 2006. The increase over the prior year is due to an increase in

Undrawn Credit Facility Fee

method of accounting for dry-dock activities whereby actual costs incurred

December 31, 2005 includes the predecessor’s 223-day operating period

the number of ownership days from 6,119 in 2006 to 9,829 in 2007.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we incurred $3.1 million in

are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the period until the

ended August 11, 2005 and 142 days of operations beginning on August 12,

undrawn credit facility fees compared with $2.8 million for the year ended

next scheduled dry-dock activity. Amortization of deferred charges relating

2005, the date of completion of our initial public offering. The consolidated

December 31, 2006, an increase of 9.1%. The commitment fee for our $1.3

to dry-docking increased to $0.2 million for the year ended December 31,

financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting

Billion Credit Facility is 0.2625% of the applicable margin on the difference

2007, from $14,000.

principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) and, except

for the year ended December 31, 2007, from $27.9 million for the year ended

Depreciation
Depreciation increased by 86.6%, or $23.3 million, to $50.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2007, from $26.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006. The increase was primarily due to a full year of amortization for the 2006 vessel deliveries and the impact of the 2007 vessel
deliveries.

between our total credit facility amount and our principal amounts outstand-

where otherwise specifically indicated, all amounts are expressed in United

ing under the credit facility. The commitment fee on our $365.0 million

States dollars.

revolving credit facility and $218.4 million credit facility is 0.3% per annum
on the undrawn facility amount. The commitment fee on our $920.0 million
credit facility is 0.2% per annum on the undrawn credit facility amount. The
commitment fees are expensed as incurred.
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The following table presents our operating results for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006.
Year Ended
December 31,
2006
Statement of operations data (in thousands of dollars):
Revenue
Operating expenses:
 Ship operating
Depreciation
General and administrative
Operating earnings
Other expenses (income):
 Interest expense
 Interest income
Undrawn credit facility fee
 Amortization of deferred charges
Change in fair value of financial instruments

Year Ended
December 31,
2005(1)

(as adjusted)(2)

(as adjusted)(2)

$  118,489

$  74,960

27,869
26,878
4,911

15,565
17,090
1,912

58,831

40,393

17,594
(1,542)
2,803
1,980
908

16,262
(141)
1,041
1,176
(7,308)

Net earnings

$   37,088

$  29,363

Common shares outstanding at year end:
Per share data (in dollars):
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share
Cash dividends paid
Statement of cash flows data (in thousands of dollars):
Cash flows provided by (used in):
 Operating activities
 Investing activities
Financing activities

47,522,350

35,991,600

$   71,363
(605,652)
610,798

$  43,404
(847,192)
818,649

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

$   76,509

$  14,861

$      0.98
$     1.70

$    0.41
$    0.23

$   92,227
1,198,782
10,711
15,496

$  15,718
621,163
4,799
9,298

Total assets

$1,317,216

$ 650,978

11,167
15,831
563,203
727,015

4,226
—
122,893
523,859

$1,317,216

$ 650,978

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Other data:
Number of vessels in operation at period end
Average age of fleet in years at period end
TEU capacity at period end
Average remaining initial term on outstanding charters
Fleet utilization

General and Administrative Expenses

ating days for 2006 compared with 3,648 operating days in 2005. During

General and administrative expenses increased by 157.6%, or $3.0 million, to

the year, we took delivery of ten vessels consisting of six 4250 TEU vessels

$4.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, from $1.9 million for the

and four secondhand 4800 TEU vessels. These additional deliveries contrib-

year ended December 31, 2005 due to additional legal, accounting, treasury,

uted 1,374 operating days.

rent, securities regulatory compliance, executive salaries, travel, board of

Revenue
Revenue for the period was based on contracted daily rates for each vessel.

13
1.9
63,719
9.2
100%

(1) Includes the predecessor’s 223-day operating period ended August 11, 2005.
(2) Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FSP AUG AIR-1, Accounting for Planned Major Maintenance Activities, which provides guidance on the accounting for planned major maintenance
activities. Previously, the Company accounted for dry-dock activities using the accrue-in-advance method. The Company has adopted the deferral method of accounting for dry-dock activities whereby
actual costs incurred are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the period until the next scheduled dry-dock activity. The Company has applied FSP AUG AIR-1 retrospectively, and,
as a result, the results for the 142-day period ended December 31, 2005 and the year ended December 31, 2006 have been adjusted.

incurred by a publicly listed company.
Interest Expense

the year ended December 31, 2006, from $75.0 million for the year ended

Interest expense increased by 8.2%, or $1.3 million, to $17.6 million for the

December 31, 2005. During the year ended December 31, 2005, ten vessels

year ended December 31, 2006, from $16.3 million for the year ended

were delivered contributing $25.4 million in revenue and 1,374 operating

December 31, 2005.

days. Our vessel utilization was 99.0% in 2006 which is comparable to our
2005 utilization of 100%.
Ship Operating Expenses

The increase was due to additional draw downs on our $1.0 billion credit
facility to fund the 2006 deliveries. We have entered into interest rate swap
agreements to reduce our exposure to market rate risks from changing inter-

Ship operating costs increased by 79.0%, or $12.3 million, to $27.9 million

est rates on our LIBOR based payments on our facilities. The interest expense

for the year ended December 31, 2006, from $15.6 million for the year ended

received or paid on these interest rate swaps are netted with or added to

December 31, 2005. The increase over the prior year is due to an increase in

interest expense on our credit facilities.

the number of ownership days from 3,648 in 2005 to 6,119 in 2006.

The interest on our $365.0 million revolving credit facility and $218.4 million

Historically, the predecessor was responsible for and incurred all ship operating

credit facility were capitalized to the eight 2500 TEU vessels and four 5100

expenses. Subsequent to our initial public offering, our ship operating expenses,

TEU vessels under construction.

including crewing, dry-docking, victualling, stores, lube oils, communication
expenses, repairs and maintenance, insurance and other expenses related to
the technical management of the vessels, are borne by our Manager under
our management agreement. Operating expenses for the period are calculated
agreement, multiplied by the number of days in which each ship operates
in a year. Because these payments are fixed at a contracted daily rate, any
volatility in actual ship operating expenses will be absorbed by our Manager.
Certain extraordinary costs, however, are not covered by our contracted daily
rate. At December 31, 2006, we had 23 vessels in operations which include
the additional ten vessels delivered during the year.
Depreciation
Depreciation increased by 57.3%, or $9.8 million, to $26.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2006, from $17.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005. The increase was primarily due to a full year of amorti-

23
4.8
108,473
8.1
99.0%

directors fees, insurance, audit, agency fees, and other costs normally

Charter revenue increased by 58.1%, or $43.5 million, to $118.5 million for

based on contracted daily rates for each vessel, as specified in our management

Selected balance sheet data (in thousands of dollars):
Cash and cash equivalents
Vessels
Fair value of financial instruments
Other assets

Other liabilities
Fair value of financial instruments
Long-term debt
Shareholders’ equity

We began the year with 13 vessels in operation that contributed 4,683 oper-

zation for the 2005 deliveries and the impact of the 2006 vessel deliveries.

Undrawn Credit Facility Fee
During the year ended December 31, 2006, we incurred $2.8 million in
undrawn credit facility fees compared with $1.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005, an increase of 169.3%. The commitment fee for our
$1.0 billion credit facility is 37.5% of the applicable margin on the difference
between our total credit facility amount and our principal amounts outstanding
under the credit facility. The commitment fee on our $365.0 million revolving
credit facility and $218.4 million credit facility is 0.3% per annum on the
undrawn facility amount. The commitment fees are expensed as incurred.
Interest Income
During the year ended December 31, 2006, we earned interest income of
$1.5 million compared with $0.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2005 through investing excess cash balances in highly liquid securities with
terms to maturity of three months or less.
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Amortization of Deferred Charges
Amortization of deferred charges increased 68.4%, or $0.8 million, to $2.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2006, from $1.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2005.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Liquidity and Cash Needs
At December 31, 2007, our cash and cash equivalents totaled $123.1 million.
At December 31, 2007, we have drawn $757.9 million of an available $1.3

Amortization of deferred financing fees relating to our credit increased by

billion under our $1.3 Billion Credit Agreement to fund the delivery of and pay

67.2%, or $0.8 million, to $2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2006,

certain installments for certain of our vessels.

from $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. The increase was
due to fees and other direct costs incurred for entering into our $365.0 million
revolving credit facility and $218.4 million term loan facility. Financing fees
are deferred and amortized over the terms of the individual credit facilities
using the interest yield basis. The amortization of the deferred financing fees
on the $1.0 billion credit facility is expensed as incurred while the amortization of the deferred financing fees on the $365.0 million revolving credit facil-

There are restrictions on the amount that can be advanced to us under the
$1.3 Billion Credit Agreement based on the market value of the vessel or
vessels in respect of which the advance is being made. This facility has a
maturity date of May 11, 2014, except that we have the option to extend the
facility maturity for one additional year under certain circumstances. For more

Change in Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The change in fair value of financial instruments is $0.9 million loss for the
year ended December 31, 2006 compared to $7.3 million income for the year
ended December 31, 2005. Certain of our interest rate swaps are accounted
for as hedging instruments in accordance with the requirements in accounting

obligations of our subsidiaries under the terms of the agreement. The proceeds of the facility are available to finance construction of two of our 13100
TEU vessels; one of which is under construction by HHI and the other by
HSHI. After delivery of these vessels, we may use the facility for general
corporate purposes.

All of the vessels that are currently chartered and that we will acquire are
chartered to charterers under long-term time charters, and these charterers’
payments to us are and will be our sole source of operating cash flow. At any
given time in the future, cash reserves of the charterers may be diminished
or exhausted, and we cannot assure you that the charterers will be able to
make charter payments to us. If the charterers are unable to make charter

As of December 31, 2007, we drew $50.0 million of the $150 million avail-

payments to us, our results of operations and financial condition will be mate-

able under this facility. For more information, please read “Our $150 Million

rially adversely affected.

Credit Facility.”

We have good commercial relations with each of our customers and we
agreements with us. Part of our business strategy is to grow our customer

quarterly dividend. Our medium-term liquidity needs primarily relate to the

base. If our existing charters with CSCL Asia, HL USA, APM or COSCON were

purchase of the containerships we have contracted to purchase. Our long-term

terminated, based on current charter rates, we believe we could recharter

liquidity needs primarily relate to vessel acquisitions and debt repayment. We

such vessels at rates higher than our existing rates over similar time periods,

anticipate that our primary sources of funds for our short and medium-term

although we cannot assure you that this would be the case. If market rates

liquidity needs will be our committed credit facility, new credit facilities, addi-

decline and we recharter at lower rates, our results of operations and finan-

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we drew $111.2 million of the

tional equity offerings as well as our cash from operations, while our long-term

cial condition could be materially adversely affected.

$283.0 million available in the second tranche under the $365 Million Credit

sources of funds will be from cash from operations and/or debt or equity

Agreement to fund the construction of the 2500 TEU vessels. No amounts to

financings. We believe that these sources of funds will be sufficient to meet

date have been drawn from the first tranche of this credit facility. For more

our liquidity needs for the foreseeable future.

facility is split into two separate tranches, one to fund the acquisition of the

next scheduled dry-dock activity.

for such purchase.

II Co. Ltd. and Seaspan Finance III Co. Ltd., as borrowers. We guaranteed the

including payments under our management agreement, and payment of our

under construction.

are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the period until the

2007 with two of our wholly-owned subsidiary companies, Seaspan Finance

believe they will be able to meet their commitments under their charter

information, please read “Our $1.3 Billion Credit Facility.”
We entered into our $365 Million Credit Agreement on May 19, 2006. This

method of accounting for dry-dock activities whereby actual costs incurred

contracted to purchase is not conditional upon our ability to obtain financing

Our primary short-term liquidity needs are to fund our operating expenses,

ity and $218.4 million term loan facility are being capitalized to the vessels

As a result of the adoption of FSP AUG AIR-1, we have adopted the deferral

We also entered into the $150 Million Credit Agreement on December 28,

3500 TEU vessels and the second to fund the construction of eight of our ten
2500 TEU vessels. We are also able to use the facility for general corporate
purposes in certain circumstances.

information, please read “Our $365 Million Credit Facility.”

Operating Activities Cash Flows
Net cash from operating activities increased by $41.8 million, to $113.2 million
for the year ended December 31, 2007, from $71.4 million for the year ended

Our dividend policy will impact our future liquidity needs. Our board of direc-

December 31, 2006. The increase was primarily attributable to the delivery

On October 16, 2006, we entered into a credit facility for $218.4 million. The

tors has adopted a dividend policy to pay a regular quarterly dividend on our

of 6 additional vessels in 2007. Cash flow from operating activities for the

literature. As a result, the effective changes in the fair value of our interest

proceeds of this facility are being used to partially finance the construction

common and subordinated shares while reinvesting a portion of our operating

year ended December 31, 2007 reflects net loss from operations of $10.4

rate swap agreements that qualify for hedge accounting are excluded from

of the four 5100 TEU vessels that will be built by HHI. During the year ended

cash flow in our business. Retained cash may be used to, among other things,

million, non-cash items of $125.8 million and decrease in assets and liabili-

earnings until settled. The change in fair value of financial instruments repre-

December 31, 2007, we drew $83.7 million available under this credit facility

fund vessel or fleet acquisitions, other capital expenditures and debt repay-

ties of $2.2 million.

sents the ineffective portion of our interest rate swap agreements that are

to fund the construction of the 5100 TEU vessels. For more information on

ments, as determined by our board of directors. Our dividend policy reflects

accounted for as hedging instruments and the change in fair value of the

this facility, please read “Our $218.4 Million Credit Facility.”

our judgment that by retaining a portion of our cash in our business over the

financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting. The predecessor
did not designate their interest rate swap agreements as hedging instruments
in accordance with the requirements in accounting literature, and recognized
changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps in the earnings for the
periods ended August 11, 2005 and December 31, 2004.

On August 8, 2007, we entered into the $920 Million Credit Agreement, the
proceeds of which have been used to finance the construction of two of the
ten 2500 TEU vessels under construction by Jiangsu, the four 4250 TEU
vessels to be constructed by New Jiangsu and the eight 8500 TEU vessels to
be constructed by HHI. After delivery of these vessels, we may use the facility
for general corporate purposes. During the year ended December 31, 2007,
we drew $336.6 of the $920 million available under this facility. See “Our
$920 Million Credit Facility” for more information on this facility.

long term, we will be able to provide better value to our shareholders by
enhancing our longer term dividend paying capacity. Although it is our goal to
further grow our dividend through accretive acquisitions of additional vessels,
there can be no assurance that we will be successful in meeting this goal. If
our future liquidity needs are greater than currently anticipated, we could
reduce or eliminate the cash available for distribution as dividends. In such
event, our board of directors may change our dividend policy. Please read
“Financial Information—Dividend Policy.”

The predecessor’s net cash flow from operating activities was exposed to
fluctuations in operating expenses. Our operating expenses are borne by our
Manager pursuant to our management agreements. We pay our Manager a
contracted daily operating expense rate per vessel for technical services it
provides to us. In return for providing us with strategic and administrative
management, our Manager is entitled to reimbursement of all reasonable
costs and expenses incurred by it and its affiliates in providing us with such
services plus a monthly administrative services fee not to exceed $6,000 per
month. As such, we expect that our operating cash flow will increase at a
stable incremental rate as the size of our fleet increases, with minor fluctua-

As of December 31, 2007, the total purchase price of the 34 vessels that we

tions for normal changes in working capital balances, vessel off-hire periods,

have contracted to purchase was estimated to be approximately $2.6 billion,

such as dry-docking and repairs and maintenance activity and general and

which we expect to fund primarily from our credit facilities and from the sale

administrative expenses.

of additional common shares. Our obligation to purchase the vessels we have
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Net cash from operating activities was $71.4 million during the year ended

under construction. We incurred another long-term liability of $53.1 million

December 31, 2006, reflecting net earnings from operations of $37.1 million,
non-cash items of $30.9 million and increase in assets and liabilities of
$3.3 million.
Net cash from operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2005

The technical services fee does not cover extraordinary costs or expenses.

December 31, 2008 and will be subject to renegotiation thereafter; our

for the deposits on vessels under construction for the vessels to be leased

We are insured for certain matters, but we cannot assure you that our insur-

initial financing costs are effectively hedged until at least February

from Peony. We also made $249.0 million of repayments under our $1.3 Billion

ance will be adequate to cover all of these matters. During 2007, we incurred

2014; but future operating and financing costs are currently unknown);

Credit Agreement to reduce our operating debt. We also incurred $9.4 million

approximately $0.8 million of additional costs and expenses, which are not

in financing fees and paid cash dividends of $94.3 million.

covered by the technical services fee. These costs include bunkers consumed
during dry-docking and off-hire, repair costs and insurance deductibles.

reflects net earnings of $29.4 million, non-cash items of $11.0 million and

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we completed our public equity

changes in assets and liabilities of $3.1 million.

offering of 11,500,000 common shares including the additional 1,150,000

We must make substantial capital expenditures over the long term to preserve

common shares issued pursuant to the underwriters’ exercise of their over-

our capital base. If we do not retain funds in our business in amounts necessary

allotment option, for net proceeds of $235.1 million. We incurred $12.1 million

to preserve our capital base over the long term, we will not be able to con-

in costs in connection with our public equity offering. During the year, we

tinue to refinance our indebtedness or maintain our dividends. On an annual

borrowed $440.3 million from our credit facilities to fund the purchase of

basis, we will likely need at some time in the future to retain funds in addition

certain of our delivered vessels and to fund the installment payments and

to such amount to provide reasonable assurance of maintaining our capital

construction costs of the vessels under construction. We also incurred $3.4

base over the long term. We believe it is not possible to determine now, with

million in financing fees and paid cash dividends of $61.2 million.

any reasonable degree of certainty, when and how much of our operating

Investing Activities Cash Flows
Cash used in investing activities increased by $499.1 million, to $1.1 billion
for the year ended December 31, 2007, from $605.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2006. Cash used in investing activities for the year
ended December 31, 2007 consisted solely of net cash payments for vessel
deliveries, vessel construction costs, and acquisition of intangible assets.
Please read “Results of Operations—Critical Accounting Estimates—Intangible
Assets” in this Annual Report.
Cash used in investing activities was $605.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006, which consisted solely of net cash payments for vessel
deliveries, vessel construction costs, and acquisition of intangible assets.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, we completed our initial public
offering, issuing 35,715,100 common shares for net proceeds of $710.5 million. On September 13, 2005, our underwriters exercised their over-allotment
option and we issued an additional 276,500 common shares for net proceeds
of $5.8 million. We incurred $45.3 million in costs in connection with our

cash flow we should retain in our business to preserve our capital base. We
believe that the amounts we forecast to be able to retain in our business after
the acquisition of our initial fleet will provide a substantial portion of our
needs. There are a number of factors that will not be determinable for a num-

• the remaining lives of our vessels;

Melbourne for $52.7 million, on September 15, 2005, we purchased the

from our credit facility to fund the purchase of the CSCL Melbourne, CSCL

• the returns that we generate on our retained cash flow, particularly the

CSCL Brisbane for $52.7 million, and on October 18, 2005, we purchased

Brisbane and the New Delhi Express. Prior to the IPO, the predecessor’s

returns generated from investments in additional vessels (this will depend

the New Delhi Express for $56.9 million. Prior to the IPO, the predecessor’s

cash flow from financing activities included a reduction of restricted cash

on the economic terms of any future acquisitions and charters, which

cash flow from investing activities consisted solely of net cash payments for

of $11.5 million, issuance of long-term debt of $45.3 million, repayment of

are currently unknown);

vessel construction.

long-term debt of $11.2 million and repayment of amounts due to related part

The average age of the vessels in our operating fleet is less than five years;
as such, no significant capital expenditures for dry-docking and maintenance

we completed two public equity offerings. The April 2007 offering was of

have occurred in the past. During the first quarter of 2007, the CSCL Chiwan

5,475,000 common shares, including the additional 475,000 common shares

incurred approximately 9 days of off-hire for repairs to its rudder-horn.

issued pursuant to the underwriters’ exercise of their over-allotment options,
for net proceeds of approximately $154.4 million. The August 2007 offering
was of 4,500,000, for net proceeds of approximately $142.4 million. During
the year, we borrowed $424.9 million and $600.3 million, respectively, from
our credit facilities to fund the purchase of certain of our delivered vessels
and to fund the installment payments and construction costs of the vessels

Our Manager has included the cost of routine dry-docking within the technical
services fee we pay pursuant to the management agreement. During 2007,
three of our 4250 TEU vessels and three of our 4800 TEU vessels underwent
their 5-year survey for a total of six dry-docks. There are no scheduled
5-year surveys in 2008.

are successful in making acquisitions with outside sources of financing, which
add a material amount to our cash available for retention in our business or
unless our board of directors concludes that we will likely be able to recharter
our fleet upon expiration of existing charters at rates higher than the rates in
our current charters, our board of directors will likely determine at some
future date to reduce, or possibly eliminate, our dividend in order to be able
to have reasonable assurance that it is retaining the funds necessary to preserve our capital base.

paid a cash dividend of $61.2 million, or $1.70 per share. During the year

$8.3 million, or $0.23 per share. During the year, we borrowed $122.9 million

ended December 31, 2006. During the year ended December 31, 2007,

our need to retain funds rather than pay them out as dividends. Unless we

capital base, including the following:

ten vessels for $664.0 million. On August 17, 2005, we purchased the CSCL

for the year ended December 31, 2007, from $610.8 million for the year

Our board of directors will periodically consider these factors in determining

million, or $1.785 per share. During the year ended December 31, 2006, we

fees as a result of obtaining our credit facility and paid a cash dividend of

Ongoing Capital Expenditures and Dividends

“Risk Factors.”

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we paid cash dividends of $94.3

December 31, 2005. On completion of our initial public offering, we purchased

Net cash from financing activities increased by $411.6 million, to $1.0 billion

• unanticipated future events and other contingencies. Please read

regarding the amount of funds to be retained in our business to preserve our

initial public offering. We also incurred an additional $7.3 million in financing

Financing Activities Cash Flows

the relevant financing and capital markets at that time; and

ber of years, but that will enter into our board of directors’ future decisions

Cash used in investing activities was $847.2 million for the year ended

of $21.4 million.

• our future refinancing requirements and alternatives and conditions in

ended December 31, 2005, we paid a cash dividend of $8.3 million or $0.23
per share for the partial quarter ended September 30, 2005.
Research and Development
Not applicable.

• future market charter rates for our vessels, particularly with respect to
our fleet when the vessels come off charter (this will depend on various

Trend Information

factors, including: our existing charters are not expected to expire for

In the containership charter market, there was significant upward movement

approximately 5–12 years from their commencement; the existing charters are at rates substantially below current spot rates and short-term
charter rates; but actual market charter rates when the existing charters
expire are currently unknown);

in time charter rates in the period between the start of 2002 and the middle
of 2005. Demand for containership capacity driven by increases in global
container trade underpinned upward market movements, and the market
recovered from the falls seen in 2001 to levels beyond previous market highs.

• our future operating and interest costs, particularly after the expiration

Midway through 2005, containership charter rates began to fall as a result

of the initial management fees and financing arrangements described

of increased capacity and falling freight rates, before stabilizing at the end

in this Annual Report (our technical operating costs will be fixed until

of 2006.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The charter owner containership sector is also subject to the development of

6350 TEU containership increased from $60.0 million to $107.0 million.

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting.

containership newbuilding prices, which reflect the cost of the acquisition of

Economies of scale in containership building mean that the cost per TEU

new containerships by owners from the shipyards. Since early 2003 new-

involved in building larger containerships is smaller than for ships with smaller

building prices have risen substantially. The total newbuilding price for a the-

TEU capacity.

for a theoretical 4700 TEU containership the newbuilding price rose from
$45.0 million to $81.0 million, while the newbuilding price for a theoretical

and effected by our Board of Directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and

oretical 2750 TEU containership increased from $29.5 million at the start of
2003 to $53.0 million at the start of January 2008. Over the same period,

Internal control over financial reporting refers to a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

procedures that:

Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements

• pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets;

At December 31, 2007, we do not have any off-balance-sheet arrangements.

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and
members of our board of directors; and

Contractual Obligations
On a pro forma basis our long-term undiscounted contractual obligations as of December 31, 2007, including amounts payable under our credit facility and
interest rate swaps, consists of the following:

Less than
1 year

More than
1–3 years

3–5 years

5 years

Purchase obligations for additional vessels(1)

$1,339,438

$     —

2,777,010

$

4,715

$ 50,574

$1,284,149

704,750

1,303,639

768,621

—

54,427

54,427

—

—

—

$4,170,875

$759,177

$1,308,354

$819,195

$1,284,149

Fixed payments to the Manager for technical and administrative services under
our management agreements(2)
Total

control over financial reporting is a process that involves human diligence and compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from
human failures. Internal control over financial reporting also can be circumvented by collusion or improper override. Because of such limitations, there is a risk
that material misstatements may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis by internal control over financial reporting. However, these inherent limitations

(in thousands)
Long-term debt obligations

material effect on our financial statements.
Internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting objectives because of its inherent limitations. Internal

Payments due by period

Total

• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that could have a

are known features of the financial reporting process, and it is possible to design into the process safeguards to reduce, though not eliminate, this risk.
Management evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 using the framework set forth in the report
of the Treadway Commission’s Committee of Sponsoring Organizations.

(1) These obligations are for the 34 vessels that we have contracted to purchase and include the payments to be made on our behalf for the 5 vessels we have agreed to lease.
(2) The technical services portion of the fees are fixed through December 31, 2008 and includes payments for the vessels currently operating in our fleet at December 31, 2007 and fees for the vessels that we have contracted to purchase based on each of their contracted delivery dates. The administrative services portion of the fees is capped at $6,000 per month, plus reimbursement for
all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by our Manager and its affiliates in providing us with such services. For purposes of this table only, we have only included the fixed payments under our
current management agreements which fix the technical services fee until December 31, 2008. The amounts presented above do not include reimbursements that may become payable to our
Manager for administrative or strategic services provided.

Based on the foregoing, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2007.
The effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 has been audited by KPMG LLP, the independent registered public
accounting firm that audited our December 31, 2007 consolidated annual financial statements, as stated in their report which is included herein.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT RE G ISTERED PU B LI C A C C OUNTIN G FIR M

The management of Seaspan Corporation (the “Company”) is responsible for the preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements and the

To the Board of Directors of Seaspan Corporation

preparation and presentation of information in the Annual Report. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States and are considered by management to present fairly the financial position and operating results of the Company.
The Company maintains various systems of internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are appropriately authorized and recorded, that
assets are safeguarded and that financial reports are properly maintained to provide accurate and reliable financial statements.
The Company’s audit committee is comprised entirely of non-management directors and is appointed by the Board of Directors annually. The committee meets
periodically with the Company’s management and independent auditors to review the financial statements and the independent auditors’ report.
The consolidated financial statements have been reviewed by the audit committee, which has recommended their approval by the Board of Directors. The
Company’s independent auditors, KPMG LLP, have examined the financial statements and their report follows.

We have audited Seaspan Corporation’s (“the Company”) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting, included in the section entitled “Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting” included in Management’s Discussion
and Analysis. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over

GERRY WANG	SAI W. CHU

financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect

Chief Executive Officer

the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit prepa-

March 17, 2008

Chief Financial Officer

ration of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of
the Company as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years
then ended and for the period from the date of incorporation on May 3, 2005 to December 31, 2005, and our report dated March 17, 2008 expressed an
unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

KPMG LLP
Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, Canada
March 17, 2008

38
S e a s pa n C o r p o r at i o n

S e a s pa n C o r p o r at i o n

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT RE G ISTERED PU B LI C A C C OUNTIN G FIR M

C ONSOLIDATED B ALAN C E SHEETS
(Expressed in thousands of United States dollars)

To the Board of Directors of Seaspan Corporation

2007

December 31, 2007 and 2006

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Seaspan Corporation (“the Company”) as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 and the related

(As adjusted
—note 3(p) )

consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years then ended and for the period from the date of incorporation
on May 3, 2005 to December 31, 2005. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
 Accounts receivable
 Prepaid expenses

$ 123,134
2,527
4,657

examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended and for the period from the date of incorporation

Vessels (note 5)
Deferred charges (note 6)
Other assets (note 7)
Fair value of financial instruments

on May 3, 2005 to December 31, 2005 in conformity with US generally accepted accounting principles.
As discussed in Note 3(p) to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted FSP AUG AIR-1, Accounting for Planned Major Maintenance
Activities, in 2007.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company’s internal control

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 11(a))
Deferred revenue

over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 17, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness
of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

KPMG LLP
Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, Canada
March 17, 2008

2006

Long-term debt (note 8)
Other long-term liability (note 12(d))
Fair value of financial instruments
Shareholders’ equity:
 Share capital (note 9)
   Class A common shares; $0.01 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized;
    50,396,833 shares issued and outstanding
   Class B common shares; $0.01 par value; 25,000,000 shares authorized; 7,145,000 shares issued and outstanding
   Class C common shares; $0.01 par value; 100 shares authorized; 100 shares issued and outstanding
  Preferred shares; $0.01 par value; 65,000,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding
 Additional paid-in capital
Deficit
 Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Commitments and contingent obligations (note 12)
Subsequent events (note 14)
Approved on behalf of the Board:

GERRY WANG		

DAVID KORBIN

Director		

Director

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

$

92,227
641
3,787

130,318
2,424,253
17,240
5,090
—

96,655
1,198,782
7,879
3,189
10,711

$2,576,901

$1,317,216

$

$

8,516
7,200

5,607
5,560

15,716
1,339,438
223,804
135,617

11,167
563,203
—
15,831

575
1,046,412
(122,317)
(62,344)

475
748,410
(17,658)
(4,212)

862,326

727,015

$2,576,901

$1,317,216
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C ONSOLIDATED STATE M ENTS OF EARNIN G S

C ONSOLIDATED STATE M EN TS OF s h a r e h o l d e r s ’ e q u i t y

(Expressed in thousands of United States dollars, except per share amount)

(Expressed in thousands of United States dollars, except number of shares)

Period from date
of incorporation

Number of common shares

Years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

Common
shares

Additional
paid-in
capital

Accumulated
Retained
other
Total
earnings comprehensive shareholders’
(deficit)
income (loss)
equity

Total
comprehensive
income

Year ended

Year ended

on May 3, 2005

December 31,

December 31,

to December 31,

2007

2006

2005

(As adjusted

(As adjusted

—note 3(p))

—note 3(p))

$199,235

$118,489

$34,803

46,174

27,869

7,832

50,162

26,878

7,186

6,006

4,911

1,694

102,342

59,658

16,712

96,893

58,831

18,091

 Interest expense

34,062

17,594

1,699

 Interest income

(4,074)

(1,542)

(124)

Dividends on common shares

—

—

—

—

—

(8,278)

—

(8,278)

Balance, December 31, 2005

28,846,500

7,145,000

100

360

512,229

6,471

4,799

523,859

Class A common shares issued on secondary offering (note 9)
11,500,000
Fees and expenses in connection with issuance of common shares
—
Share-based compensation expenses (note 10):
 Restricted Class A common shares and phantom
   share units issued
30,750
Net earnings
—
Other comprehensive net loss:
Change in fair value of financial instruments designated as
   cash flow hedging instruments
—

—
—

—
—

115
—

247,135
(12,136)

—
—

—
—

247,250
(12,136)

—
—

—
—

—
—

1,182
—

—
37,088

—
—

1,182
37,088

$ 37,088

—

—

—

—

—

(9,011)

(9,011)

(9,011)

Revenue
Operating expenses:
 Ship operating (note 4(a))
Depreciation
General and administrative

Operating earnings
Other expenses (income):

Undrawn credit facility fees
 Amortization of deferred charges (note 6)
Change in fair value of financial instruments
Financing fee write-off (note 6)

Net earnings (loss)
Weighted-average shares used in computation of basic and diluted earnings per share (in thousands)
Earnings (loss) per share, basic and diluted

3,057

2,803

1,041

1,256

1,980

726

72,365

908

—

635

—

—

107,301

21,743

3,342

$ (10,408)

$ 37,088

$14,749

53,008

37,692

35,992

$   (0.20)

$    0.98

$   0.41

Period from date of incorporation on May 3, 2005 to December 31, 2005

Class A

Class A common shares issued on initial public offering
28,570,000
Class B common shares issued on initial public offering
—
Class C common shares issued on initial public offering
—
Excess of purchase price paid over historical cost on
vessel purchase (note 9)
—
Class A common shares issued on exercise of overallotment option 276,500
Fees and expenses in connection with issuance of the
common shares
—
Net earnings
—
Other comprehensive net income:
Change in fair value of financial instruments designated
   as cash flow hedging instruments
—

Class B

Class C

(As adjusted
—note 3(p))
$286 $ 599,684 $      —
71
149,974
—
—
1
—

$     —
—
—

(As adjusted
—note 3(p))
$ 599,970
150,045
1

—
—

—
—

(197,904)
5,807

(45,330)
—

—
14,749

—
—

(45,330)
14,749

$ 14,749

—

—

4,799

4,799

4,799

—
7,145,000
—

—
—
100

—
—

—
—

—
3

(197,904)
5,804

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

—

—

(As adjusted
—note 3(p))

$ 19,548

$ 28,077
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Dividends on common shares

—

—

—

—

—

(61,217)

—

(61,217)

Balance, December 31, 2006

40,377,250

7,145,000

100

$475 $ 748,410

$ (17,658)

$ (4,212)

$ 727,015

Class A common shares issued on secondary offering (note 9)
9,975,000
Fees and expenses in connection with issuance of common shares
—
Share-based compensation expenses (note 10):
 Restricted Class A common shares and phantom
   share units issued
44,583
Net loss
—
Other comprehensive net loss:
Change in fair value of financial instruments designated as
   cash flow hedging instruments
—

—
—

—
—

100
—

309,864
(13,202)

—
—

—
—

309,964
(13,202)

—
—

—
—

—
—

1,340
—

—
(10,408)

—
—

1,340
(10,408)

(10,408)

—

—

—

—

—

(58,132)

(58,132)

(58,132)
$(68,540)

Dividends on common shares
Balance, December 31, 2007

—

—

—

50,396,833

7,145,000

100

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

—

—

(94,251)

—

(94,251)

$575 $1,046,412

$(122,317)

$(62,344)

$ 862,326
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C ONSOLIDATED STATE M ENTS OF C ASH FLOWS

NOTES TO FINAN C IAL STATE M ENTS

(Expressed in thousands of United States dollars)

(Tabular amounts in thousands of United States dollars, except per share amount and number of shares)
Years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006
Period from date of incorporation on May 3, 2005 to December 31, 2005

Year ended
December 31,
2007

Year ended
December 31,
2006
(As adjusted
—note 3(p))

Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities:
 Net earnings (loss)
 Items not involving cash:
   Depreciation
  Share-based compensation (note 10)
  Amortization of deferred charges (note 6)
  Write-off on debt refinancing (note 6)
   Change in fair value of financial instruments
Changes in assets and liabilities:
  Prepaid expenses and accounts receivable
  Other assets and deferred charges
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
   Deferred revenue
Cash from operating activities
Financing activities:
Common shares issued, net of share issue costs (note 9)
Draws on credit facilities (operating vessels) (note 8)
Draws on credit facilities (vessels under construction) (note 8)
 Other long-term liability
 Repayment of credit facility
Financing fees incurred (note 6)
Dividends on common shares
Cash from financing activities
Investing activities:
 Expenditures for operating vessels
Deposits on vessels under construction
Vessels acquired at completion of initial public offering (note 2)
 Intangible assets
Cash used in investing activities
Increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

Period from date
of incorporation
on May 3, 2005
to December 31,
2005
(As adjusted
—note 3(p))

1. General
Seaspan Corporation was incorporated on May 3, 2005 in the Marshall Islands.
These consolidated financial statements are for years ended December 31,
2007 and 2006 and for the period from the date of incorporation on May 3,
2005 to December 31, 2005, includes 142 days of operations from the date
of the initial public offering (IPO) on August 12, 2005.
Seaspan Corporation was formed for the purpose of acquiring 10 containerships (the Initial Fleet) from ten existing Republic of Cyprus incorporated

$   (10,408)

$  37,088

$  14,749

50,162
1,340
1,256
635
72,365

26,878
1,182
1,980
—
908

7,186
—
726
—
—

wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively, the Predecessor) of Seaspan Container

The proceeds received by the Company from the IPO and the use of those
proceeds are summarized as follows:
Proceeds received:
 Sale of 28,570,000 common shares and 7,145,000 subordinated
   shares at $21.00 per share

$750,015

 Sale of 276,500 common shares at $21.00 per share

5,807
$755,822

Use of proceeds from sale of common shares:
 Purchase of Initial Fleet
Underwriting and structuring fees paid to third parties

$664,016
37,847

Lines Limited (SCLL) and to enter into an agreement (the Asset Purchase

 Repayment of advances from SCLL

1,411

Agreement) to acquire 13 additional containerships from 13 other Cyprus

 Professional fees and other offering expenses to third parties

7,483

incorporated wholly-owned subsidiaries of SCLL (all 13 subsidiaries collectively

Credit facility costs

referred to as VesselCos) on completion of their construction, which comple-

 Partial funding of purchase price of the CSCL Melbourne

tion was scheduled to occur between 2005–2007 (all 23 containerships

 Working capital

collectively referred to as the Contracted Fleet). Subsequent to the completion

7,252
34,671
3,142
$755,822

of the IPO, Seaspan Corporation has also entered into agreements to acquire
(2,756)
(3,975)
2,909
1,640

(2,076)
(1,538)
4,140
2,801

(2,352)
(420)
1,467
2,759

113,168

71,363

24,115

296,762
424,912
600,323
53,106
(249,000)
(9,409)
(94,251)

235,114
279,574
160,736
—
—
(3,409)
(61,217)

710,493
122,893
—
—
—
(7,252)
(8,278)

1,022,443

610,798

817,856

(447,089)
(657,380)
—
(235)

(502,363)
(101,974)
—
(1,315)

(162,237)
—
(664,016)
—

(1,104,704)

(605,652)

(826,253)

30,907
92,227

76,509
15,718

15,718
—

$   123,134

$  92,227

$  15,718

other containerships. The primary activity of Seaspan Corporation is the ownership and operation of the containerships which are engaged in the deep-sea

3. Summary of significant accounting policies

container transportation business.

(a) Basis of presentation:

During the year ended December 31, 2007, Seaspan Corporation incorporated

This summary of significant accounting policies is presented to assist in

Seaspan Finance I Co. Ltd., Seaspan Finance II Co. Ltd., and Seaspan Finance

understanding the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated

III Co. Ltd., for the purpose of entering into financing lease and credit facility

financial statements and notes are representations of the Company’s

agreements in connection with the construction of certain containerships.

management, which is responsible for their integrity and objectivity.

These entities are fully consolidated in the financial statements as at and

These accounting policies conform to accounting principles generally

for the year ended December 31, 2007. In these consolidated financial state-

accepted in the United States and have been consistently applied in the

ments, the Company refers to Seaspan Corporation and its wholly-owned

preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

subsidiaries.

(b)	Principles of consolidation:
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts

2. Initial public offering

of Seaspan Corporation and its majority owned subsidiaries (collectively,

On August 12, 2005, the Company completed an IPO and issued 28,570,000

the Company). In accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards

common shares and 7,145,000 subordinated shares for gross proceeds of

Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 46(R), Consolidation of Variable Interest

$599,970,000 and $150,045,000, respectively. On August 12, 2005, the

Entities (FIN 46R), the Company also consolidates any variable interest

Company also issued 100 incentive shares to Seaspan Advisory Services

entities (VIE’s) of which it is the primary beneficiary, as defined. All sig-

Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Seaspan Management Services Limited.

nificant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated

On September 13, 2005, the underwriters exercised their overallotment

in consolidation.

option and the Company issued an additional 276,500 common shares for
gross proceeds of $5,806,500.

(c) Foreign currency translation:
The functional and reporting currency of the Company is the United States
dollar. Transactions incurred in other currencies are translated into United
States dollars using the exchange rate at the time of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities as of the financial reporting date are

Supplementary information (note 11(b))
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

translated into United States dollars using exchange rates at that date.
Exchange gains and losses are included in net earnings.
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(Tabular amounts in thousands of United States dollars, except per share amount and number of shares)
Years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006
Period from date of incorporation on May 3, 2005 to December 31, 2005

(d) Cash equivalents:

(g) Deferred financing fees:

reclassified to earnings when the hedged transaction is reflected in earn-

expenses during the reporting fiscal periods. Areas where accounting

Cash equivalents include highly liquid securities with terms to maturity of

Deferred financing fees represent the unamortized costs incurred on

ings. Ineffective portions of the hedges are recognized in earnings as

judgments and estimates are significant to the Company include the

three months or less when acquired.

issuance of credit facilities. Amortization is provided on the interest-yield

they occur. Actual cash receipts and/or payments and related accruals

assessment of the vessel lives and the recoverability of the carrying value

basis over the term of the underlying obligation.

on derivatives related to hedges are recorded as adjustments to the

of vessels, which are subject to future market events. Actual results

interest income or interest expense associated with the hedged item.

could differ from those estimates.

(e) Vessels:
Vessels purchased on completion of the IPO are carried at the historical

(h)	Income taxes:

carrying value of the Predecessor which includes capitalized interest

There are no taxes on income in the jurisdiction in which the Company

During the life of the hedge, the Company formally assesses whether

during construction and other construction, design, supervision and

is incorporated. The Company is not subject to taxes on income in any

each derivative designated as a hedging instrument continues to be

Certain of the figures presented have been reclassified for comparative

pre-delivery costs.

other jurisdiction where the Company operates.

highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair value or cash flows of

purposes to conform to the financial statement presentation adopted for

Vessels purchased pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement are recorded

The owner of the vessel is responsible for all taxes, fees or other levies

hedged items. If it is determined that a hedge has ceased to be highly

the current year.

at their cost to the Company, reflecting the predetermined purchase price

charged by countries other than Hong Kong on vessels due to having

in the agreement.

cargo on board. Under charter party agreements, this responsibility has

If the Company de-designates a hedging relationship and discontinues

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)

been assumed by the charterer. Taxes, fees or levies charged by Hong

hedge accounting, the Company evaluates the future settlements to

issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (SFAS 157), which defines

Kong are included in technical services, as part of the management

determine whether there are any hedged interest rate payments that

fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally

agreement (note 4(a)). Any such taxes paid by the Company, as a result

are improbable to occur. When such amounts are identified as being

accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value

of the charterer’s failure to pay, will be recognized when the Company’s

improbable, the balance pertaining to these amounts that is included in

measurements. SFAS 157 does not require any new fair value measure-

obligation is determinable.

accumulated other comprehensive income is reversed through earnings

ments, but provides guidance on how to measure fair value by providing

immediately. When amounts are not identified as improbable, any balances

a fair value hierarchy used to classify the source of the information.

recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income at the de-designation

SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15,

Vessels acquired in the secondhand market are recorded at their cost
to the Company which consists of the purchase price, acquisition and
delivery costs.
Deposits, installment payments, interest, financing costs, construction
design, supervision costs, and other pre-delivery costs incurred during
the construction period for vessels under construction are recorded as
vessel deposits.

(i)	Revenue recognition:
Revenue from charter hire services is recognized as services are rendered
and collection is reasonably assured. Any expected losses on shipping

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful

contracts are provided for as they become known. Cash received in excess

life of each vessel, which is approximately 30 years from the date of

of earned revenue is recorded as deferred revenue.

completion. The Company calculates depreciation based on the remaining useful life and the expected salvage value of the vessel.

(j) Derivative financial instruments:
The Company’s hedging policies permit the use of various derivative

effective, the Company will discontinue hedge accounting prospectively.

2007. In February 2008, the FASB delayed for one year the effective

rate swap occur.

date of adoption with respect to certain non-financial assets and liabilities.

(k)	Share-based compensation:
Share-based compensation awards are accounted for using the fair value
method of accounting in accordance with FAS No. 123(R), Share-Based
Payment. Share-based awards may include options, restricted shares,

financial instruments to manage interest rate risk. Interest rate swap and

stances indicate that there has been a possible impairment in value, which

swaption agreements have been entered into to reduce the Company’s

would occur in the fiscal period when the net carrying value was no

exposure to market risks from changing interest rates. Derivatives and

longer expected to be recovered from future estimated cash flows. Such

hedging activities are accounted for in accordance with FASB Statement

evaluations include comparison of current and anticipated operating cash

No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging

flows, assessment of future operations and other relevant factors. To the

Activities, as amended, which requires that all derivative instruments be

extent that the carrying value of the vessels exceeds the undiscounted

recorded on the balance sheet at their respective fair values. The Company

In accordance with SFAS No. 128, Earnings Per Share, basic earnings per

estimated future cash flows, the vessels would be written down to their

recognizes the interest rate swap and swaption agreements on the bal-

common share is based on net income divided by the weighted-average

fair value.

ance sheet at their fair value.

number of common shares outstanding during the period excluding non-

To qualify for hedge accounting, derivatives must be highly effective at

phantom shares and other share-based awards. The fair value of the

Seaspan intends to defer the adoption of SFAS 157 with respect to
certain non-financial assets and liabilities as permitted. The Company
is currently evaluating the potential impact of the partial adoption of
SFAS 157 on its consolidated financial position, results of operations
and cash flows.

share-based awards is based on the market value of the Company’s

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option

common shares at the grant date. Compensation costs for share-based

for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities—including an Amendment

awards are recognized over the requisite service period.

of FASB Statement No. 115 (SFAS 159), which allows an entity to choose

(l)	Earnings per share:

vested stock. Diluted earnings per common share include the dilutive
effect of stock options and non-vested stock awards granted using the

For certain vessels where the Company provides lubricants for the opera-

reducing the risk associated with the exposure being hedged and must be

tion of such vessels, the Company has a contractual right to have the

formally designated as a hedge at the inception of the hedging relation-

vessel returned with the same level and complement of lubricants. This

ship. The Company considers a hedge to be highly effective if the change

contractual right is recorded as an intangible asset and included in other

in fair value of the derivative hedging instrument is within 80% to 125%

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management

assets at the historical fair value of the lubricants at the time of delivery.

of the opposite change in the fair value of the hedged item attributable

to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of

Intangible assets are tested for impairment annually or more frequently

to the hedged risk. For interest rate swap agreements that are formally

assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities

due to events or changes in circumstances that indicate the asset might

designated as cash flow hedges, the changes in the fair value of these

at the balance sheet dates and the reported amounts of revenue and

be impaired. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount

interest rate swaps are recorded in other comprehensive income and are

of the intangible asset exceeds its fair value.

(o)	Recent accounting pronouncements:

are recognized in earnings when the actual settlements under the interest

The carrying value of the vessels is evaluated when events or circum-

(f)	Intangible assets:

(n) Comparative figures:

treasury stock method.
(m) Use of estimates:

to measure certain financial instruments and liabilities at fair value.
Subsequent measurements for the financial instruments and liabilities an
entity elects to fair value will be recognized in earnings. SFAS 159 also
establishes additional disclosure requirements. SFAS 159 is effective
for the Company beginning January 1, 2008. The Company is currently
evaluating the potential impact of the adoption of SFAS 159 on its consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
(p)	Accounting for dry-dock activities:
Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FSP AUG AIR-1,
Accounting for Planned Major Maintenance Activities, which provides
guidance on the accounting for planned major maintenance activities.
Previously, the Company accounted for dry-dock activities using the
Accrue-in-advance method. The Company has adopted the deferral
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method of accounting for dry-dock activities whereby actual costs

dividends on the Company’s common and subordinated shares reach

incurred are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the

certain specified targets beginning with the first target of $0.485 per

period until the next scheduled dry-dock activity.

share per quarter. At December 31, 2007, the incentive shares do not

The Company has applied FSP AUG AIR-1 retrospectively, resulting in the

have rights to incremental dividends.

Initial technical
services fees
Date of Management Agreement

Vessels subject to Management Agreement

(per vessel per day)

May 4, 2007

adjustment of 2006 and 2005 results. The impact of this adjustment on

Under the Management Agreement, the Manager provides services to the

the consolidated financial statements is as follows:

Company for fees which are fixed through December 31, 2008 and

—4250 TEU

$4,500

thereafter will be subject to renegotiation every three years as follows:

—8500 TEU

6,000

—9600 TEU

6,500

As
previously
reported

As
Adjustment

adjusted

Deferred charges
 Other assets
Deficit, December 31, 2006

$  7,809

$    70

$ 7,879

1,315

1,874

3,189

(19,602)

1,944

(17,658)

For the year ended December 31, 2006:
Ship operating expenses
Amortization of deferred charges
 Net earnings
 Earnings per share, basic and diluted

$ 29,407

$(1,538) $27,869

1,966

14

1,980

35,564

1,524

37,088

0.94

0.04

0.98

$  6,051

$   420

$ 6,471

4,200

• Eight of the ten 2500 TEU vessels being constructed by

4,000

Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Co., Ltd., or Jiangsu

agement of the business for a fixed fee of $72,000 per year. The

May 18, 2007

Company will also reimburse all reasonable expenses incurred by

(5100 Management Agreement)

the Manager in providing these services to the Company.
On May 4, 2007, the Management Agreement (the Amended Management

$  8,252
14,329

$  (420) $ 7,832

• Four 5100 TEU vessels that will be constructed by Hyundai Heavy Industries Co., Ltd.,

420

14,749

Company under the Amended Management Agreement for the IPO vessels,
Mærsk vessels, and any other newbuild or secondhand vessel that the

  Earnings per share,
0.40

0.01

0.41

Company may, with the prior approval of the Manager, add to the Amended
Management Agreement.

4. Related party transactions

Under the Amended Management Agreement, for vessels other than

(a) Management Agreement:

purchases and services to ensure the seaworthiness and readiness for

the IPO vessels, the Company will fund at its own expense pre-delivery

Seaspan Management Services Limited (the Manager) is owned by a

service and will pay all fees associated with the classification society or

group of individuals through companies and two trusts who also own

registration of the vessel under the relevant flag.

the Company’s 7,145,000 Class B common shares issued and out
standing, representing a 12.4% voting interest in the Company as at

On May 18, 2007 and September 28, 2007, the Company entered into

December 31, 2007.

separate Management Agreements with the Manager to provide technical

The Management Agreement was entered into on August 8, 2005 for

its initial contracted fleet or the Mærsk vessels. Under these Management

the provision of certain technical, strategic and administrative services

Agreements, the Company pays to the Manager an initial technical services

for fees. In connection with entering into the agreement to provide the

fee for the management of those vessels once the relevant vessel is

Company with strategic services, the Company previously issued 100

delivered. The initial technical service fee under each of the Management

incentive shares to the Manager. The incentive shares are entitled to a

Agreements, as summarized below, is fixed through December 31, 2008

share of incremental dividends, based on specified sharing ratios, once

and thereafter will be subject to renegotiation every three years:

services for the vessels that it has acquired to date other than those in

4,800

or HHI
September 28, 2007
(2500/4250/8500 Management Agreement)

• Two 2500 TEU vessels that will be constructed by Jiangsu

4,200

• Four 4250 TEU vessels being constructed by Jiangsu New Yangzi Shipbuilding Co., Ltd.,

4,725

or New Jiangsu
• Eight 8500 TEU vessels that will be constructed by HHI

nal Management Agreement, the Manager provides technical, strategic

IPO (the IPO vessels). These Services will continue to be provided to the

5,750

• Two 3500 TEU vessels constructed by Zhejiang Shipbuilding Co. Ltd.

administrative and strategic services to the Company for the man-

vessels that made up the Company’s contracted fleet at the time of the

May 3, 2005 to December 31, 2005:

basic and diluted

(2500/3500 Management Agreement)

• Administrative and Strategic Services—The Manager provides

and administrative services (the Services) to the Company for the 23

Period from date of incorporation on

  Net earnings

—4800 TEU
May 18, 2007

chartered to A.P. Møller-Mærsk A/S (the Mærsk vessels). Under the origi-

Retained earnings,

  Ship operating expenses

operating expenses to the Company in exchange for a fixed fee per
not include certain extraordinary items.

• IPO vessels

• Mærsk vessels

Agreement) was amended and restated to include the secondhand vessels

As at December 31, 2005:
December 31, 2005

• Technical Services—The Manager is responsible for providing ship
day per vessel as described below. The technical services fee does

As at December 31, 2006:

(Amended Management Agreement)

For vessels operating or that began operations during the year ended

6,000

(b) Due to/from related parties:

December 31, 2007, the Manager provided technical services at a cost

As at December 31, 2007, $1,584,000 (2006—$1,116,000) is due to

of $47,956,500 (2006—$28,811,500; 2005—$8,251,000) to the

related parties for reimbursement of administrative and strategic services

Company. During the year ended December 31, 2007, $2,566,000

expenses, supervision services, dry-dock costs paid and acquisition

(2006—$1,538,000; 2005—$420,000) of dry-dock activities, that

costs paid on the Company’s behalf. As at December 31, 2007, $73,000

forms a portion of the technical services fee, was paid to the Manager.

(2006—$204,000; 2005—nil) is due to related parties for amounts

During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Manager provided fixed
fee administrative and strategic services at a cost of $72,000 (2006—
$72,000; 2005—$27,871), and the Company reimbursed expenses
incurred by the Manager in the amount of $1,526,000 (2006—$836,064;
2005—$313,628).
These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration
established and agreed to by the related parties.

collected from or deducted by charterers by the Company on the behalf
of related parties. These amounts are included in accounts payable and
are to be repaid in the ordinary course of business. As at December 31,
2007, $2,135,000 (2006—nil) is due from related parties.
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5. Vessels
December 31, 2007
Vessels

7. Other assets
Accumulated

Net book

December 31,

December 31,

Cost

depreciation

value

2007

2006

$1,577,801

$84,226

$1,493,575

930,678

—

930,678

(As adjusted

Deposits on vessels under
construction

—note 3(p))

$2,508,479

$84,226

$2,424,253

Prepaid expenses

$3,540

$1,874

Intangible assets

1,550

1,315

$5,090

Other assets
December 31, 2006
Vessels

Accumulated

Net book

Cost

depreciation

value

$1,130,712

$34,064

$1,096,648

102,134

—

102,134

$1,232,846

$34,064

$1,198,782

During the year, the Company capitalized interest costs of $19,030,000
(December 31, 2006 and 2005—$2,411,000 and nil, respectively) as
deposits on vessels.

8. Long-term debt
December 31,

December 31,

2007

2006

Long-term debt (operating vessels):
$1.3 billion revolving credit facility
   (2006—$1.0 billion credit facility)

$  640,259

$464,347

Long-term debt (operating vessels)

$  640,259

$464,347

$1.3 billion revolving credit facility
Financing
Dry-docking

fees

(As adjusted

(As adjusted

—note 3(p))
December 31, 2005

Total

—note 3(p))

are secured by the following, among other things:

including but not limited to covenants requiring the Company to maintain

• First and second priority mortgages on the 23 vessels in the
Company’s initial contracted fleet as well as the four 4800 TEU
vessels which the Company purchased from A.P. MøIler-Mærsk
A/S between October and December 2006; and
• First priority assignment of earnings related to the above noted
vessels, including time charter revenues, and a first priority assign-

   (2006—$1.0 billion credit facility)

$  117,631

$     —

$920.0 million revolving credit facility

336,607

—

$365.0 million revolving credit facility

Tranche A, in the maximum amount of $82.0 million and Tranche B, in

our eight 2500 TEU vessels being constructed by Jiangsu Yangzijiang
Shipbuilding in China. Both Tranche A and Tranche B will be divided into

time, even if the Company’s loan to value ratio exceeds 70%, the Company

several advances.

can borrow under the facility so long as the loan to value ratio does not
exceed 80% (the Overadvance Loan).

The $365.0 million revolving credit facility requires payment of interest at
a rate per annum, calculated as LIBOR plus 0.850% per annum for the
first six years after the delivery date of the last delivered vessel in each

reduced by $32.5 million per quarter until May 11, 2014, when the out-

Tranche and LIBOR plus 0.925% per annum thereafter. The Company

standing loan balance will be due and payable. If the facility is extended

has entered into hedging arrangements to manage the interest rate expo-

for one additional year, then in addition to the previous mentioned reduc-

sure from the floating rate under the facility.

111,207

35,420

$218.4 million credit facility

83,734

63,436

reduced by $65.0 million per quarter until May 11, 2015, when the out-

$150.0 million revolving credit facility

50,000

—

Long-term debt (vessels under construction)

$  699,179

$ 98,856

Long-term debt

$1,339,438

$563,203

standing loan balance will be due and payable. The Company has the

The $365.0 million revolving credit facility requires payments of a commitment fee of 0.3% per annum on the average undrawn facility amount.

right, subject to certain conditions, to add additional vessels to the collat-

Beginning six months from the delivery date of the last vessel securing

eral package to preserve access to the full amount of the facility.

Tranche A of the facility, but no later than March 31, 2008, the principal

3,409

3,493

 Amortization expensed

(14)

(1,966)

(1,980)

 Amortization capitalized

—

(160)

(160)

December 31, 2006

70

7,809

7,879

On May 11, 2007, the Company amended and restated its $1.0 billion

portion of the outstanding loans under certain circumstances, including

2,309

9,409

11,718

the sale or loss of a vessel where the ratio of the loan to market value of

 Amortization expensed

(253)

(1,003)

(1,256)

credit facility dated August 8, 2005. The amended and restated credit

the remaining collateral vessels exceeds a certain percentage. Amounts

 Amortization capitalized

—

(466)

(466)

agreement is a $1.3 billion single-tranche senior secured seven-year

prepaid in accordance with these provisions may be re-borrowed, subject

 Write-off on debt refinancing

—

(635)

(635)

revolving credit facility (the $1.3 billion revolving credit facility). The
borrowings of this facility may be used to finance vessel acquisitions,

to certain conditions. The amended and restated credit agreement requires

$2,126

$15,114

$17,240

to refinance vessels already acquired by the Company and for general

payment of interest at a rate per annum, calculated as LIBOR plus 0.7%

corporate purposes. The facility maturity date is May 11, 2014, except

per annum. In the case of an Overadvance Loan, the interest rate is

During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company refinanced the

that the Company has the option to extend the facility maturity for one

LlBOR plus 1.0% per annum.

$1.0 billion credit facility, as described in note 8. As a result, $635,000 of

additional year under certain circumstances.

The $1.3 billion revolving credit facility requires payment of a commitment

facility were expensed.

The $365.0 million revolving credit facility is divided into two Tranches:

are collateralized. In certain circumstances and for a certain period of

84

previously deferred costs incurred in connection with the $1.0 billion credit

credit facility) with certain lenders.

on Tranche A. Tranche B is being used to partially fund the purchase of

$ 6,526

December 31, 2007

secured revolving credit facility agreement (the $365.0 million revolving

ing balance remains below 70% of the market value of the vessels that

$ 6,526

Cost incurred

On May 19, 2006, the Company entered into a $365.0 million senior

the maximum amount of $283.0 million. No amounts have been drawn

tion beginning on May 11, 2014, the maximum facility amount will be

The Company may prepay all loans without penalty, other than breakage
(a) $1.3 billion revolving credit facility:

(b) $365.0 million revolving credit facility:

lion without adding additional collateral provided that the total outstand-

$   —

Cost incurred

a minimum tangible net worth, and interest and principal coverage ratios.

Until August 11, 2012, the Company will be able to borrow up to $1.3 bil-

Beginning on August 11, 2012, the maximum facility amount will be

Long-term debt (vessels under construction):

6. Deferred charges

The $1.3 billion revolving credit facility contains certain financial covenants

ment of any insurance proceeds.

Deposits on vessels under
construction

$3,189

The Company’s obligations under the $1.3 billion revolving credit facility

costs in certain circumstances. The Company is required to prepay a

fee of 0.2625% per annum calculated on the undrawn, uncancelled
portion of the facility.

amount borrowed under Tranche A will be reduced semiannually by
amounts ranging from 2.2% to 3.5% of the amount borrowed until the
maturity date, at which time Tranche A will terminate. A final payment of
approximately 47% of the amount borrowed is required upon termination
of the tranche. Beginning six months from the delivery date of the last
vessel securing Tranche B of the facility, but no later than April 30, 2010,
the principal amount borrowed under Tranche B will be reduced semiannually by amounts ranging from 2.1% to 3.3% of the amounts borrowed
until the maturity date, at which time Tranche B will terminate. A final
payment of approximately 49% of the amount borrowed is required upon
termination of Tranche B.
Tranche A of the facility has a maturity date of the tenth anniversary of
the delivery date of the last vessel or July 31, 2017, whichever is earlier.
Tranche B of the facility has a maturity date of the tenth anniversary of
the delivery date of the vessel or August 31, 2019, whichever is earlier.
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The $365.0 million revolving credit facility is secured by the following,

• An assignment of the Company’s shipbuilding contracts; and

reductions in the $920.0 million revolving credit facility. The Company

Under this facility, the Company may borrow up to the lesser of $150.0

among others:

• A pledge of our retention accounts.

will be required to prepay a portion of the outstanding loans in certain

million and 65% of the vessel delivered costs (as defined in the credit

circumstances, including the sale or loss of a vessel or the cancellation

agreement) provided that amounts borrowed in respect of vessel delivered

of a shipbuilding contract where the Company elects not to substitute

costs that are not covered by the amount of the refund guarantees for

another vessel within the time period and on the terms set out in the

the vessels may not exceed $2,500,000 per vessel. The facility will be

• A first priority mortgage on the collateral vessels funded by the
$365.0 million revolving credit facility;
• An assignment of the Company’s time charters and earnings
related to the collateral vessels;
• An assignment of the insurance on each of the vessels that are
subject to a mortgage;
• An assignment of the Company’s shipbuilding contracts; and
• A pledge of our retention accounts.

The $218.4 million credit facility contains certain financial covenants
including covenants requiring the Company to maintain a minimum tangible net worth, and interest and principal coverage ratios.

credit agreement. The Company may also remove a vessel from the facility

proportionately reduced to the extent that not all vessels are delivered to

upon prepayment of the relevant portion of the outstanding loans and

the Company by October 27, 2011. Commencing on the earlier of 6 months

On August 8, 2007, the Company entered into a secured reducing revolving

substitute another vessel within the time period prescribed and on the

after the delivery date of the last vessel and April 27, 2012, the facility

$920.0 million credit facility (the $920.0 million revolving credit facility).

terms set out in the $920.0 million revolving credit facility. Amounts

will reduce by eighteen consecutive semi-annual reductions in the amounts

prepaid in the circumstance of a sale, loss or removal of a vessel or can-

and on the dates set out in a schedule to the credit agreement, and on

cellation of a shipbuilding contract may only be re-borrowed in certain

each such date the Company must prepay the amount of the outstanding

(d) $920.0 million revolving credit facility:

The proceeds of this facility may be used by the Company to partially
finance the construction of two of the Company’s 2500 TEU vessels that

limited circumstances.

The credit facility contains certain financial covenants including covenants

will be built by Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Co., Ltd., four of the

requiring the Company to maintain a minimum tangible net worth, and

Company’s 4250 TEU vessels under construction by Jiangsu New Yangzi

The $920.0 million revolving credit facility requires payment of interest

interest and principal coverage ratios.

Shipbuilding Co., Ltd. and the Company’s eight 8500 TEU vessels that

on the outstanding loans at a rate calculated as LIBOR plus 0.5% per

(c) $218.4 million credit facility:
On October 16, 2006, the Company entered into a credit facility for

annum. The $920.0 million revolving credit facility also requires payment

costs in certain circumstances. Amounts prepaid voluntarily may be

vessels, the Company may use this facility for general corporate purposes.

of a commitment fee of 0.2% per annum calculated on the undrawn,

re-borrowed up to the amount of the facility, subject to the required

uncancelled portion of the facility. Prior to delivery of a vessel, interest

reductions in the facility. The Company will be required to prepay a portion

and commitment fees associated with the loans for a vessel may be added

of the outstanding loans in certain circumstances, including the sale or

to the outstanding loan balance.

loss of a vessel or the cancellation of a shipbuilding contract where the

The final maturity date for the $920.0 million revolving credit facility is the

facility are being used to partially finance the construction of the four

earlier of the twelfth anniversary of the delivery date of the last collateral

5100 TEU vessels that will be built by Hyundai Heavy Industries Co., Ltd.

vessel delivered and December 31, 2022. The Company’s obligations

in South Korea. The credit facility requires payment of interest at a rate

under this credit agreement are secured by, among other things, assign-

The credit facility contains certain financial covenants including covenants

per annum, calculated as LIBOR plus 0.6% per annum.

ments of shipbuilding contracts and refund guarantees for the vessels,

requiring the Company to maintain a minimum tangible net worth and

assignments of time charters, earnings and any charter guarantee for

interest and principal coverage ratios.

of 0.3% per annum calculated on the undrawn portion of the facility.
Beginning thirty-six months from the delivery date of the last vessel
securing the $218.4 million credit facility, the principal amount borrowed
under the facility will be reduced in eighteen semi-annual payments by
amounts ranging from 2.7% and 3.3% of the amount borrowed until the
maturity date. A final repayment of approximately 45% of the amount
borrowed is required upon the final maturity date.

The Company may prepay all loans without penalty, other than breakage

will be built by Hyundai Heavy Industries Co., Ltd. After delivery of the

$218.4 million (the $218.4 million credit facility). The proceeds of this

The $218.4 million credit facility requires payments of commitment fees

loan that exceeds the amount of the reduced facility. The outstanding
loans under the facility must be paid in full by the final maturity date.

the vessels, assignments of insurances for the vessels, mortgages of the
vessels and an assignment of a management agreement for the vessels.

(e) $150.0 million revolving credit facility:

Company elects not to substitute another vessel within the time period
and on the terms set out in the credit agreement. The Company may also
remove a vessel from the facility upon prepayment of the relevant portion
of the outstanding loans and substitute another vessel within the time
period prescribed and on the terms set out in the $150.0 million revolving

On December 28, 2007, the Company entered into a secured reducing

credit facility. Amounts prepaid in the circumstance of a sale, loss or

Under the $920.0 million revolving credit facility, the Company may borrow

revolving $150.0 million credit facility (the $150.0 million revolving

removal of a vessel or cancellation of a shipbuilding contract may only

up to the lesser of $920.0 million and 65% of the vessel delivered costs

credit facility).

be re-borrowed in certain limited circumstances.

(as defined in the credit agreement) provided that amounts borrowed in

The proceeds of this facility are being used by the Company to finance

The $150.0 million revolving credit facility requires payment of interest

respect of vessel delivered costs that are not covered by the amount of
the refund guarantees for the vessels may not exceed $1,250,000 per
vessel. The facility will be proportionately reduced to the extent that not

the construction of two of the Company’s 13100 TEU vessels, one of

on the outstanding loans at a rate calculated as LIBOR plus 0.8% per

which will be built by Hyundai Heavy Industries Co., Ltd., and the other

annum. The $150.0 million revolving credit facility also requires payment

by Hyundai Samho Heavy Hyundai Industries Co., Ltd.

of a commitment fee of 0.2% per annum calculated on the undrawn,

The facility maturity date is the anniversary date falling twelve years after

all vessels are delivered to the Company by June 30, 2011. Commencing

the scheduled delivery date of the fourth 5100 TEU vessel delivered or

on the earlier of 36 months after the delivery date of the last vessel and

The final maturity date for the $150.0 million revolving credit facility is

December 23, 2021, whichever is earlier.

June 30, 2014, the facility will reduce by eighteen consecutive semi-

the earlier of the twelfth anniversary of the delivery date of the last vessel

The credit facility contains certain financial covenants including covenants

annual reductions in the amounts and on the dates set out in a schedule

delivered and October 17, 2023. The Company’s obligations under this

requiring the Company to maintain a minimum tangible net worth and

to the credit agreement, and on each such date the Company must pre-

credit agreement are or will be secured by, among other things, assign-

interest and principal coverage ratios.

pay the amount of the outstanding loan that exceeds the amount of the

ments of shipbuilding contracts and refund guarantees for the vessels,

reduced facility. The outstanding loans under the facility must be paid in

assignments of time charters, earnings and any charter guarantee for the

full by the final maturity date.

vessels, assignments of insurances for the vessels, mortgages of the

The $218.4 million credit facility is secured by the following, among others:
• A first priority mortgage on the collateral vessels funded by the
$218.4 million credit facility;
• An assignment of the Company’s time charters and earnings related
to the collateral vessels;
• An assignment of the insurance on each of the vessels that are
subject to a mortgage;

The Company may prepay all loans without penalty, other than breakage
costs in certain circumstances. Amounts prepaid voluntarily may be
re-borrowed up to the amount of the facility, subject to the required

vessels and an assignment of a management agreement for the vessels.

uncancelled portion of the facility.
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(f) Minimum repayments:

as the Company was formed by SCLL to succeed the Predecessor’s business

(c)	15,000 phantom share units to the Chief Financial Officer as compensa-

(f)	On January 1, 2007, one third of the 14,500 restricted Class A common

As at December 31, 2007, minimum repayments for the balances out-

upon completion of the IPO. As a result, the excess of the purchase price of

tion for services. One third of the award vests on each of January 1, 2008,

shares issued to the former Chief Financial Officer as compensation for

standing with respect to the credit facilities are as follows:

the Initial Fleet over the historical carrying value was recorded as a charge to

January 1, 2009, and January 1, 2010. On January 1, 2008, 5,000

services vested. The remaining two thirds of the 14,500 restricted Class

shareholders’ equity.

common shares were issued in exchange for the cancellation of the

A common shares issued were cancelled as the grantee is no longer in

5,000 vested phantom share units.

the service of the Company.

2008

$

—

2009

—

2010

4,715

2011

5,027

2012

45,547

Thereafter

1,284,149
$1,339,438

9. Share capital

The following table summarizes the reduction to the Initial Fleet’s purchase

(d)	135,000 phantom share units to the Chief Executive Officer as compen-

price and the charge to shareholders’ equity:
Purchase price of the Initial Fleet paid in cash
Vessels at historical carrying value of Predecessor
Charge to share capital

$664,016
(466,112)
$197,904

On November 8, 2006, the Company completed a secondary offering and
issued 11,500,000 common shares at $21.50 per share. The net proceeds

sation for services. One third of the award vests on each of December 21,
2008, December 21, 2009 and December 21, 2010.

as compensation for services for 2006. These shares vested on
December 31, 2006.

(e)	On January 1, 2007, one third of the phantom share units issued to the
Chief Executive Officer as compensation for services, vested. 33,167

Officer as compensation for services. One third of the award vests on
each of January 1, 2007, January 1, 2008, and January 1, 2009.

chase price of the undelivered vessels that the Company had contracted to

completion of the IPO to any quarter after September 30, 2008 where (i) the

purchase and for working capital and other general corporate purposes.

Company has paid quarterly dividends of an amount at least equal to $0.425

On April 24, 2007, the Company completed an equity offering and issued

Class A common shares in exchange for the cancellation of the phantom

5,000,000 common shares at $29.45 per share. On April 30, 2007, an addi-

share units as they vest. On January 1, 2008, 33,167 common shares

tional 475,000 common shares were issued to the underwriters as part of

were issued in exchange for the cancellation of the 33,167 vested phantom

the over-allotment option granted to them by the Company. The net proceeds

share units.

on a quarterly basis, at least $0.425 per share on all of the Company’s common shares calculated on a fully diluted basis during that fiscal period (the
Subordination Fiscal period).
During the Subordination Fiscal period, subject to the discretion of the Board
of Directors, the Company intends to pay a regular quarterly dividend on the
Class A common shares of $0.425 per share, plus any arrears in the payment
of the $0.425 per share amount from prior quarters, before Class B common
shares are entitled to any dividends from operating surplus. The Class A
common shares will accrue arrears during the Subordination Fiscal period.
The Class B common shares are subordinated shares and may not receive any
dividends from the Company’s operating surplus, until the Class A common
shares have received a quarterly dividend of $0.425 per share and any arrears
in the payment of the $0.425 per share amount from prior quarters. The
Class B common shares will not accrue arrears. The Class B shares will convert to Class A common shares on a one-for-one basis after the expiration of
the Subordination Fiscal period, as defined in the articles of incorporation.
The Class C common shares are incentive shares that are entitled to share
in incremental dividends if certain target dividend levels have been met. The
Class C common shares will not convert to Class A common shares.
On August 12, 2005, the Company purchased 10 vessels from the Predecessor.
The Initial Fleet was recorded at the Predecessor’s historical carrying value,

(ii)	14,500 restricted Class A common shares to the former Chief Financial

Class A common shares were issued in exchange for the cancellation of

subordinated to the Class A common shares for the fiscal period from the

available to pay the dividends during such four-quarter fiscal period equaled,

(i)	16,250 restricted Class A common shares to its independent directors

awards vested:

of $235,114,000 from this offering were used to fund a portion of the pur-

preceding four-quarter fiscal period and (ii) the cash generated from operations

the year ended December 31, 2006:

During the year ended December 31, 2007, the following share-based

Class A common shares carry certain rights and Class B common shares are

per share on both Class A and Class B common shares for the immediately

Under the plan, the Company granted the following share-based awards during

the 33,167 vested phantom share units. The 66,333 phantom share
units outstanding as at December 31, 2007 are expected to be settled in

(iii)	99,500 phantom share units to the Chief Executive Officer as compensation for services. One third of the award vests on each of January 1,
2007, January 1, 2008, and January 1, 2009.
No awards were issued under the plan in 2005.

of $154,361,000 from this offering were used to fund vessel acquisitions.
On August 17, 2007, the Company completed an equity offering and issued

Share-based awards are summarized as follows:
Restricted shares

4,500,000 common shares at $33.05 per share. The net proceeds of
$142,401,000 from this offering were used to repay indebtedness under the
$1.3 billion revolving credit facility.
December 31, 2005

10. Share-based compensation
In December 2005, the Company’s board of directors adopted the Seaspan
Corporation Stock Incentive Plan (the Plan), under which our officers, employees and directors may be granted options, restricted stock, phantom shares,
and other stock-based awards as may be determined by the Company’s
board of directors. A total of 1,000,000 shares of common stock were reserved
for issuance under the Plan, which is administered by the Company’s board
of directors. The Plan expires 10 years from the date of its adoption.

Phantom share units

Number of

W.A. grant

Number of

W.A. grant

shares

date FV

shares

date FV

—

$    —

—

$   —

Granted

30,750

21.32

99,500

22.40

Vested

(16,250)

20.35

—

—

December 31, 2006

14,500

22.40

99,500

22.40

Granted

21,083

24.43

150,000

25.10

Vested

(25,916)

24.43

(33,167)

22.40

(9,667)

22.40

—

—

—

$    —

216,333

$24.27

Cancelled
December 31, 2007

The above shared-based awards are recognized as compensation costs over the requisite service period in the consolidated income statement based on the

Under the plan, the Company granted the following share-based awards during

fair value of the award on the date of grant. During 2007, the Company recognized a total of $1,514,000 (2006—$1,182,000; 2005—nil) share-based

the year ended December 31, 2007:

compensation expenses. As at December 31, 2007, there was $4,359,000 (2006—$1,702,000) of total unrecognized compensation costs relating to the

(a)	18,750 restricted Class A common shares to its independent directors

outstanding share-based awards, which is expected to be recognized over the term of the awards.

as compensation for services for 2007. These shares vested on
December 31, 2007.
(b)	2,333 Class A common shares to the former Chief Financial Officer as
additional compensation for services for 2007.
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11. Other information

(d)	On November 29, 2007 and December 3, 2007, the Company agreed

12. Commitments and contingent obligations

(a)	Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:

(a)	As of December 31, 2007, the Company has outstanding commitments

The principal components of accounts payable and accrued liabilities are:
December 31,

Due to related parties (note 4(b))
Accrued interest

vessels under construction, including payments to be made on the
Company’s behalf as described in note 12(d), as follows:
2008

$  704,750

2,165

2009

631,405

into agreements with the SPE to lease the five 4500 TEU vessels upon

2,122

2010

672,234

2011

768,621

completion of the construction terms. Under the lease agreements, the

CSCL Asia

Company will pay lease payments of 20% of the value of the vessels over

HL USA

the term of the first five years and a balloon payment at the termination

APM

of the leases for the remaining 80% of the value. Upon termination of the

COSCON

$5,607

December 31,

December 31,

2007

2006

2005

$ 34,038

$18,021

$   1,390

4,099

1,500

—

2,320

1,034

Non-cash transactions:
 Other long-term

(b)	As at December 31, 2007, based on 100% utilization, the minimum

170,698

—

—

—

3,738

—

   of interest
   rate swaption

—

3,738

—

Excess of purchase

market value at that time. Under the lease agreements, the Company
receives a rental rebate equal to 99.9% of the proceeds from the sale

2008

$ 229,446

2009

296,695

2010

429,841

2011

619,214

2012

653,364
5,090,366
$7,318,926

   value of the
  Initial Fleet

(c)	Under the Management Agreement, the Manager provides services to

of each vessel.
All obligations under the lease are guaranteed by the Company. Under
the terms of these arrangements, the novation of the shipbuilding contracts to the SPE does not constitute a sale-leaseback of the vessels. As

—

197,904

December 31,

December 31,

2007

2006

2005

$102,886

$ 86,938

$33,471

54,963

28,436

1,332

32,738

3,115

—

8,648

—

—

$199,235

$118,489

$34,803

(b) Fair value:
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable
and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair values
because of their short term to maturity. The carrying value of long-term
debt recalculated at current interest rates, approximates its carrying value.

a result, the Company will continue to recognize the amounts paid under

The fair value of the financial instruments is recognized on the

the contracts with Samsung as Deposits on Vessels under Construction

balance sheet.

and the amounts paid by the SPE as Other Long-Term Liability in the
financial statements.

(c)	Interest rate risk management agreements:
The Company uses derivative financial instruments, consisting of interest
rate swap agreements and an interest rate swaption, to manage its expo-

thereafter will be subject to renegotiation every three years. The fixed

sure to movements in interest rates.

payments to the Manager for technical and administrative services under

As at December 31, 2007, the Company has entered into interest rate
swap agreements to fix LIBOR at per annum interest rates on notional
loan balances.

—

December 31,

the Company for fees which are fixed through December 31, 2008 and

the current management agreement for 2008 is $54,427,000.

   price over carrying

leases, the Company has the ability to purchase the vessels at the fair

ments are approximately:

Fair value of
Fair value

an unrelated special purpose entity (the SPE). The Company also entered

future revenues to be received on committed time charter party agree-

Thereafter

   liability for vessels

   interest rate swap

accounting for our total revenues are:

$1,320

Undrawn credit facility

   under construction

ers as at December 31, 2007. As at December 31, 2007, customers

3,735

December 31,

1,473

CSCL Asia, HL USA, APM and COSCON are the Company’s only custom-

$1,657

(b)	Supplementary information to the statement of cash flows consists of:

fee paid

between September 2010 and July 2011. On December 27, 2007, the
Company entered into agreements to novate the shipbuilding contracts to

$2,777,010

Interest received

$82,811,000 per vessel. The vessels are scheduled to be delivered

(a) Concentration of credit risk:

2006

$8,516

Interest paid

Industries Co., Ltd. (Samsung). The contractual purchase price is

13. Financial instruments

2007

3,124

Other accrued liabilities

December 31,

for the purchase of additional vessels and installment payments for

to purchase five 4500 TEU vessels that will be built by Samsung Heavy
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The Company has designated certain of these interest rate swaps as hedging instruments in accordance with the requirements in FASB Statement No.
133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities, as amended, as follows:

14. Subsequent events
(a)	On January 1, 2008, the Company issued 3,750 shares to each inde-

Notional

pendent director for a total of 18,750 shares as compensation for services

amount
as at

Maximum

Fixed

December 31,

notional

LIBOR

2007

Interest rate swap

4.6325%

$663,399

Interest rate swap

5.6400%

Interest rate swap

amount(1)

for 2008. These shares vest on December 31, 2008.
(b)	On January 8, 2008, the SPE made $113,956,000 of installment payments
Effective date

Ending date

$663,399

September 15, 2005

July 16, 2012

254,382

714,500

August 31, 2007

August 31, 2017

5.2500%

82,303

200,000

September 29, 2006

June 23, 2010

Interest rate swap

5.5150%

59,700

59,700

February 28, 2007

July 31, 2012

Interest rate swap

5.3150%

53,523

106,800

August 15, 2006

August 28, 2009

Interest rate swap

5.2600%

43,250

106,800

July 3, 2006

Interest rate swap

5.6000%

—

200,000

June 23, 2010

February 26, 2021(2)
December 23, 2021

In addition, the Company has the following interest rate swaps that are not designated as hedges:
Notional

for two of the 4500 TEU vessels under construction.

as at

Maximum

Fixed

December 31,

notional

LIBOR

2007

Interest rate swap

5.2000%

$96,000

Interest rate swap

5.4200%

Interest rate swap

amount(1)
$ 96,000

December 18, 2006

October 2, 2015

69,122

438,462

September 6, 2007

May 31, 2024

5.0275%

49,080

158,000

May 31, 2007

September 30, 2015

Interest rate swap

5.1700%

17,820

55,500

April 30, 2007

May 29, 2020

Interest rate swap

5.1750%

—

663,399

July 16, 2012

July 15, 2016

Interest rate swap

5.8700%

—

620,390

August 31, 2017

November 30, 2025

Interest rate swap

5.4975%

—

59,700

July 31, 2012

July 31, 2019

Interest rate swap

5.5950%

—

106,800

August 29, 2009

August 28, 2020

(1) Over the term of the interest rate swaps, the notional amounts increase and decrease. These amounts represent the peak notional during the term of the swap.
(2) The Company has entered into a swaption agreement with a bank (Swaption Counterparty) whereby the Swaption Counterparty has the option to require the Company to enter into an interest
rate swap to pay LIBOR and receive a fixed rate of 5.26%. This is a European option and is open for a two-hour period on February 26, 2014 after which it expires. The notional amount of
the underlying swap is $106,800,000 with an effective date of February 28, 2014 and an expiration of February 26, 2021. If the Swaption Counterparty exercises the swaption, the underlying
swap effectively offsets the Company’s 5.26% pay fixed LIBOR swap from February 28, 2014 to February 26, 2021.

During the period subsequent to December 31, 2007, significant changes
to the projected LIBOR rates occurred as a result of economic factors.
As a result of these changes, the fair value of the liability related to the
Company’s interest rate swaps and swaption has increased by $80 million

per share, representing a total cash distribution of $27,359,000. The

the effectiveness of designated interest rate swaps at March 31, 2008

cash dividend was paid on February 15, 2008 to all shareholders of

and will record changes in fair value to earnings or accumulated other

record on February 1, 2008.

comprehensive loss, as appropriate.

(d)	On January 28, 2008, the Company entered into a separate Management

(g) 	On March 17, 2008, the Company entered into a $291,200,000 credit

Agreement with the Manager to provide technical services for two of its

facility agreement (the “$291.2 million credit agreement”). The proceeds

13100 TEU vessels. Under the Management Agreement, the Company

of this facility will be used by the Company to partially finance the con-

pays to the Manager an initial technical service fee for the management

struction of two of the Company’s 13100 TEU vessels.

fixed through December 31, 2008 and thereafter will be subject to reneEnding date

comprehensive loss at the date of de-designation.

from December 31, 2007 to February 29, 2008. The Company will test

service fee under the agreement is $6,750 per vessel per day and is
Effective date

recognition of a $2 million charge to earnings out of accumulated other

(c)	On January 24, 2008, the Company declared a cash dividend of $0.475

of those vessels once the relevant vessel is delivered. The initial technical

amount

August 15, 2006. The impact of these de-designations will result in

gotiation every three years.
(e)	Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company drew
$155,947,000 on its credit facilities to fund installment payments for
vessels under construction. The Company also repaid $138,000,000 of
debt under the $1.3 billion revolving credit facility.
(f)	On January 31, 2008, the Company de-designated two interest rate

Under the $291.2 million credit agreement, the Company may borrow
up to the lesser of $291.2 million and 80% of the vessel delivered costs
provided that amounts borrowed in respect of vessel delivered costs that
are not covered by the amount of the refund guarantees for the vessels
may not exceed $1,000,000 per vessel.
The facility has a term loan component of $232,960,000, which is
divided into two tranches, and a revolving loan component of $58,240,000.
One of the tranches of the term loan portion is guaranteed by the ExportImport Bank of Korea (KEXIM). The $291.2 million credit agreement

swaps: the pay fixed LIBOR of 5.64% with an effective date of August 31,

requires payment of interest on the outstanding revolving loan at a rate

2007 and the pay fixed LIBOR of 5.315% with an effective date of

calculated as LIBOR plus 0.85% per annum, payment of interest on the
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outstanding term loan tranches at a rate calculated as the commercial

The Company may prepay the term loans on a repayment date without

interest reference rate of KEXIM plus 0.65% per annum for the first

penalty, other than breakage costs and opportunity costs in certain circum-

tranche and LIBOR plus 0.35% for the second tranche. The credit agree-

stances. The Company may prepay the revolving loan on the last day of

ment also requires payment of a commitment fee of 0.30% per annum

any interest period except that the Company is not permitted to prepay a

calculated on the undrawn, uncancelled portion of the total facility.

certain portion of the revolving loan during the pre-delivery period. Amounts

The Company can draw on the term loans for a specified period of time
following the scheduled delivery date of each vessel. After delivery of
these vessels, the Company may use the revolving loan for general corporate purposes.

of the revolving loan that are prepaid voluntarily may be re-borrowed up
to the amount of the revolving loan. The Company will be required to prepay a portion of the outstanding loans in certain circumstances, including
the sale or loss of a vessel, the cancellation of a shipbuilding contract or
if the guarantee provided by KEXIM ceases to be valid for certain reasons

The final maturity date for the revolving loan is the earlier of the twelfth

and KEXIM determines that there has been or could be a material adverse

anniversary of the delivery date of the last vessel and December 31,

effect on the Company’s ability to perform its payment obligations. The

2023 and the final maturity date for the term loans is the earlier of the

Company may also remove a vessel from the facility upon prepayment of

twelfth anniversary of the delivery date of the vessels to which those

the relevant portion of the outstanding loans.

term loans relate and December 31, 2023.
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CSCL Long Beach
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS
Call Sign		
VRCZ7
Flag		Hong Kong
Hull #		
1568
Type		
9600 TEU
Charterer		
CSCL
Time Charter
12 years
Delivered		
August 31, 2007
Yard		
Samsung
Class		
LR
DIMENSIONS (Metres)
Length Overall
337
LBP		
321
Beam		
46
Scantling Draft
15
Design Draft
13
TONNAGES
Lightship MT
DWT Scantling MT
Gross NRT		
Net NRT		

39,000
108,330
101,000
59,000

MAIN ENGINE
Make		HSD Man B&W
Horsepower
93120 BHP
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CSCL Zeebrugge
9600 TEU Vessel
Photo taken in the Straits of Gibraltar, between
Malaga and Almeria, August 18/19, 2007

